
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

Tuesday, March 01, 2016 
Breckenridge Council Chambers 

150 Ski Hill Road 
 

 
12:00pm Site Visit to Cucumber Creek Estates (Meet at Breckenridge Nordic Center, 9 Grandview Drive, at 

12 noon. Bring snowshoes or the Nordic Center will provide a pair for Commissioners and Staff.) 
 

 
7:00pm Call To Order Of The March 1 Planning Commission Meeting; 7:00 P.M. Roll Call  
 

 Location Map 2 
 

 Approval Of Minutes 4 
 

 Approval Of Agenda  
 

7:05pm Consent Calendar Items  
1. Miles Residence (CL) PL-2016-0021; 2289 Highlands Drive 12 
2. Budzynski Residence (CK) PL-2016-0044; 540 Highlands Drive 25 

 
7:15pm Town Council Report  
 

7:30pm Combined Hearings  
1. AT&T at Gold Creek Condominium Modification (MM) PL-2016-0016; 326 North Main 

Street 
40 

2. Resubdivision of Tracts C & D, Runway Subdivision (aka Colorado Mountain College) (JP) 
PL-2016-0038; 107 Denison Placer Road 

58 

3. Pho Real Large Vendor Cart (CK) PL-2016-0023; 429 North Park Avenue 65 
 

9:30pm Adjournment  
 
 
For further information, please contact the Planning Department at 970/453-3160. 
 
*The indicated times are intended only to be used as guides.  The order of projects, as well as the length of the 
discussion for each project, is at the discretion of the Commission.  We advise you to be present at the beginning of 
the meeting regardless of the estimated times. 
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PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm 
 
ROLL CALL 
Kate Christopher Ron Schuman Dan Schroder 
Jim Lamb Gretchen Dudney Christie Mathews-Leidal 
Dave Pringle 
Wendy Wolfe, Town Council Liaison 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Ms. Leidal: On page 6, in regard to the Marvel house, Mr. Mosher added Condition 26 on the floor that was 
overlooked in the minutes. The minutes should read under staff recommendations at the end of the sentence: 
“with the addition of the new Condition 26 regarding a landscape covenant presented during the meeting by 
Mr. Mosher.” With no other changes, the February 2, 2016, Planning Commission Minutes were approved as 
presented. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Ms. Puester noted a change to move the Town Council Report to first on the agenda. With no other changes, 
the February 16, 2016, Planning Commission Agenda was approved as presented. 
 
TOWN COUNCIL REPORT: 
Ms. Wolfe: 

• Thanks to Kate Christopher for working on the Planning Commission over the past several years; 
thank you to the service for the Town. We will miss you. We discussed replacing your position and 
that it had been a very short time since the last interviews. We had a lot of candidates from the last 
round, so we will look back to the list to find a replacement. The Council had some questions of staff 
to get some clarifications on candidate status, but the plan is to go back to the list to find a candidate 
if possible. 

• Discussed the process to bring Pinewood 2 online (45 units of workforce housing). It will be done by 
this summer. Corum came to present on some logistics. Council approved this housing to allow pets, 
even though it wasn’t Corum’s recommendation. We hope to set some rules and are looking forward 
to making it a pet friendly unit. It will be 45 units of studios and one bedrooms. Targeting lower 
income; 50% AMI is the target, so the studio rental rate should be around $800/mo and a one 
bedroom should be under $1,000. Reservations will start to be taken around March 1. 

• We had a primer on Parking and Transit from DTJ and Nelson/Nygaard before the public community 
forum this Thursday. We have a 7:30am session and a 5:00pm sesssion at the Community Center this 
Thursday. From the preview we heard, I look forward to some good conversations. The consultants 
have information on how we can have a much more pedestrian friendly town, such as improving dark 
spots at night. There is some low hanging fruit to fix things and bring our congestion level to be more 
walkable. We aren’t just focusing on a single solution; there are many things we can do to improve 
our existing conditions. (Mr. Pringle: Is Council prepared to change its position on “dark skies”? I 
think this sacrifices a lot of street lights and lighting in the past, but I’m concerned about health safety 
and welfare.) This was talked about but that there are some technological improvements and better 
down lighting that may not sacrifice the up lighting goal. The consultants showed us a map of what 
our town looks like at night and it is surprising how there are some places in the center of Town that 
are dark. (Mr. Pringle: The recycling center could have had some better lighting for those people who 
recycle at night, but it was rejected.) The Council decided to take a wait and see position on it but it is 
stubbed out for potential future lighting around the Recycling Center. I would like to hear more 
people’s comments about this topic for the future. (Mr. Lamb: The pedestrian sidewalks that are 
heated are awesome.) (Ms. Christopher: I agree; I point these out to people who come to the Welcome 
Center.) (Mr. Schuman: How far outside the core did DTJ go?) They did discuss how the lodging is 
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located just outside the core and that there is a potential to improve lighting that could potentially 
prevent people from getting back in their car. Compared to other towns that DTJ has studied we could 
be in the more “walkable” category. (Mr. Pringle: I think that maintenance on the sidewalks that 
aren’t heated is critical. Also, Vail is a good example of encouraging people to park and then make it 
easy for people to take alternative transportation around town.) 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR: 
1) Village at Breckenridge Plaza Renovation (CL) PL-2016-0007, 535 South Park Avenue, (Liftside 

Condos, Peak Nine Inn, Lot 4), 555 South Park Avenue, (Plaza II, Shavano, Lot 3), 575 South Park 
Avenue, (Maggie Building, Lot 1, 645 South Park Avenue, (Plaza III, Wetterhorn Building, Lot 6), 655 
South Park Avenue, (Plaza I, Antero Building, Lot 5), 405 Village Road, (Chateaux Condominium Hotel, 
Lot 12) (Note: These are the correct addresses as noted in the Staff Report.) 
 

Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Mr. Pringle: I would like to look at this a little more because there are some significant changes. (Ms. 

Puester: Would you like an overview?) 
 
Mr. Schuman made a motion to call up the Village at Breckenridge Plaza Renovation, PL-2016-0007, for an 
overview presentation. Mr. Pringle seconded, and the motion was carried unanimously (7-0). 
 
Mr. Chapin La Chance, Planner II for the Town of Breckenridge: The goal of this project is to improve some 
water leakage issues. The existing concrete will be removed and replaced with pavers; in addition the plan is 
to remove the gazebo, fire-pit and the planters. New metal railings and 6 new light posts are proposed. A new 
more energy efficient snow melt system will be installed. The existing concrete is visibly deteriorating and 
the planters and concrete are leaking into the parking garage below the plaza. Currently a 20’ utility and 
access easement runs through the plaza, with a 55.5’ radius in the approximate center of the existing plaza. 
100% of this existing site is impermeable surface, perhaps except for the planters. The proposal is to install 3 
outdoor firepits; one will be replacing an existing firepit in the existing gazebo. Staff is recommending 
negative two (-2) points under Policy 33/R for two new firepits. Also proposed is to replace the boiler plants 
with new energy efficient plants that are 23-26% more efficient, so we recommended positive two (+2) points 
under Policy 33/R, Other Design Features. Access and Circulation: primary access from downtown F Lot and 
to and from Peak 9 Quicksilver lift and ground surface of easements will both be improved. The existing 
planters encroach on the easement, so removing these planters will likely improve circulation but staff does 
not believe the conditions are changing enough to warrant positive points. Landscaping: 12 trees in 3,500 sq. 
ft. of multiple planters exist; the applicant has transplanted 7 other trees to a nearby location last year. Since 
the plaza is on top of a parking deck, and there have been numerous water leaks that could lead to structural 
problems. The plaza is internal to the site so no negative points are recommended. No concerns on 
architectural compatibility. Staff believes that this is harmonious. There are currently legal non-conforming 
light fixtures that exist but they don’t need to be replaced until 2022, and staff is recommending the applicant 
consider replacing these now as they will be required to be replaced in 6 years. The new fixtures that are 
proposed are LED, down cast, fully shielded. Drainage is the big issue; there is currently a sheet flow that 
flows eastward towards Blue River, and one of the design intents is to compartmentalize the drainage to 
reduce the water issues. New drains and new piping are proposed that will tie into the garage. Staff has no 
issues with this. Overall point analysis: negative two (-2) points for Policy 33/R and positive two (+2) points 
for Policy 33/R, so Staff recommended a passing policy with zero (0) points. All Absolute Policies are being 
met. 
 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Mr. Schuman: Does the policy that the lighting must be fixed by 2022 apply? (Ms. Puester: It will be 

required to be replaced in 2022, so our suggestion was to point out that this may be more 
financially viable to address the lighting now while the plaza was torn up.) 
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Ms. Dudney: The planters will be removed, but no more planters, right? (Mr. LaChance: The applicant 
will speak to this, but there is a proposal for movable planters not tied into the concrete.) 
(Ms. Puester: I want to point out to you where the existing planters are currently on the 
plan.) 

Mr. Schroder: It read like the planters might be part of the drainage issue; are they causing the problem 
draining into the garage? (Mr. Nathan Nosari, General Manager, Village at Breckenridge 
HOA and Mr. Ed Scutellaro, Village at Breckenridge HOA Plaza Committee Chairperson:  
We’ve had problems with the planters; the rubberized membrane throughout the plaza and 
planters is old and not working. The planters are contributing to the problem. We will have 
mobile planters that are a seating bench and a ski and bike rack. If we have activities on the 
plaza we can move these, and we believe that it will provide everything we want including 
aesthetics. We have a prototype picture for you. It should give us back our landscaping and 
be more waterproofing with a tub; more functional. The pavers will look good; if we have a 
leak in our tubing we can pull the paver area up and repair the problem. This will be a fully 
functional water proof on top with edge to edge snow melt up top and better traffic flow for 
pedestrians. The issue now is the snow melts below the pavers and then freezes. There will 
be concrete, membrane and the tubing and the drains.) Why are the planters movable? (Mr. 
Nosari: We are designing the plaza to be multi-functional as it is currently underutilized and 
worn. We are adding facilities for this to turn into a stage or be used for art events.) (Ms. 
Puester: The moveable planters only have perennials, but no trees at this point?) (Mr. 
Nosari: Not sure there could be a tree in them but will depend on the final design.) 

Ms. Leidal: How many of the moveable planters? (Mr. Nosari: We are still determining this, but likely 
around six. These are not part of the application.) Would you be willing to add these to the 
project? (Mr. Scutellaro: We are worried about budget and worried about getting this project 
done on time. If it doesn’t fit with our capital project, it will be planned for the future plans. 
The cost for these six planters as currently designed is $120,000.) (Mr. Nosari: We need this 
project done by November 2016, and we want these racks included in the project.) 

Ms. Dudney: I really appreciate the improvement of this public space and it is much needed. It will look 
so much better and we will all enjoy it. (Mr. Scutellaro: It is self serving because we need 
the garage to be improved. We want it to look good too. Also, there will be a compass rose 
made out of pavers to replace the Gazebo.) 

Mr. Pringle: Mr. LaChance, will there be any analysis for the landscaping being removed? (Mr. 
LaChance: I can speak to that.) (Ms. Puester: We dug through the files and didn’t see any 
points awarded to landscaping in the plaza area. The policy talks to negative points being 
applicable when it is not adequate from a public right of way, adjacent properties and other 
visual corridors. Because this is an internal plaza, and not along a public right of way or 
adjacent property we couldn’t find any precedence for awarding any points in terms of 
landscaping. We saw staff reports, but didn’t find any preexisting points awarded to the 
plaza either. That and since it was internal to the project, we didn’t have any concerns with 
the loss of trees.) 

Ms. Leidal: Did you find an approved landscape plan? (Ms. Puester: We didn’t find a formal approved 
landscape plan for the permit. Most of the staff reports on file through the years discussed 
the entirety of the master plan of this area which included the Bell Towner Mall and the 
Marriott (on the river); they primarily spoke to landscaping around the river, but not 
specifically this plaza. These plans dated back to 1978.) 

Mr. Pringle: I would be surprised if we didn’t have a landscape plan, because it was a significant project 
back then. (Ms. Puester: We did find a master plan but that landscaping shown didn’t tie 
landscaping to a site specific location, although there were trees depicted in the master plan.) 
Do we have an understanding / requirement for what they are proposing in terms of 
planters? (Ms. Puester: We didn’t include that as the applicant doesn’t want to set it in stone 
at this stage. If they want to present the planters as a Class D Minor, we would like to see 
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and encourage that.) 
Ms. Leidal: I have the same concerns as you with Absolute Policy 22 about replacing and maintaining 

trees in an approved plan, but we don’t have a formal plan. I read this policy over and over 
and would like to see something added to the policy with regard to replacing landscape. I 
would like to revise this landscape policy and discuss at the end of the meeting; there is a 
provision about maintaining landscape but it doesn’t talk about replacing the landscape 
which I would like to see in there. 

Mr. Pringle: This will be the first of many large plaza improvements and large development 
improvements; we need to have a solid policy going forward. 

Mr. Schuman: What is the thought on the fire pit on the east side over by the Maggie side, by Taddeo’s? 
(Mr. Nosari: We would like to bring some level of activity to Taddeo’s. We are trying to 
entice and it is a nice view of the river.) (Mr. Scutellaro: We’d like to improve the south end. 
We’d like to come back to the Planning Commission at the completion of this plan and 
propose the moveable planters and discuss the type of plants and ask you at that time for 
your approval. We want this to be a nice plaza.) 

 
Commissioner Final Comments: 
Ms. Dudney: I am very appreciative of this effort. When a project is being developed the developer 

benefits, but when you have a homeowners association spending dollars on a public space 
and to have them refurbish it at no expense to the taxpayer it is great. They are replacing a 
giant firepit that was underused and they are replacing them with 3 smaller, nicer firepits and 
they are getting negative points associated with it. 

Mr. Pringle: I agree that this is a great upgrade. I would like to push for a modification to the plan to 
include a landscape plan wit the new planters; I would like this to be a condition of approval. 
(Ms. Puester: Let’s ask the applicant if they would be agreeable for the landscape plan to be 
a condition of approval.) (Mr. Scutellaro: We do not have a problem with coming back to 
you at a later time with a landscape plan since we are planning on it anyway.) 

Mr. Lamb: I agree that this is a huge improvement over what is there; I’m not worried about the 
landscaping because I think the applicant wants this to look good. I like the idea of a 
portable planter which makes this space more flexible. (Mr. Nosari: The gazebo is being 
donated to the Breckenridge Nordic Center.) 

Mr. Schroder: This is repairing a water leakage that could be destructive to adjacent buildings and could be 
a major problem if not addressed. I appreciate this being called up. I’m ok with the point 
analysis for negative points and positive points, and I look forward to this increasing vitality 
in this area. I didn’t realize that the current planter boxes are an impediment, but I think this 
is a net zero. The lighting is not a concern; I think you will be focused on making it better. 
(Mr. Nosari: The light fixtures are the standard Town light that are LED and dimmable and 
also timed. There will be energy conservation tactics.) I support a passing score of zero (0) 
points and that there is a Condition for a landscape plan. 

Mr. Schuman: I think this is a great proposal; I don’t think we would typically see the removal of 12 trees 
and like the added condition. 

Ms. Leidal: I support staff’s analysis and I appreciate the applicant’s taking on the drainage issue. 
Thanks for offering to come back with your landscape plan. (Ms. Puester: Mr. Nosari, is 
there a chance to relocate the trees to other parts of the property?) (Mr. Nosari: We did 
relocate 6 of the healthiest trees, but the others weren’t salvageable. We did relocate some 
shrubs around the ski school and around the bus stop.) 

Ms. Puester: The new Condition will be “Condition 18: Applicant shall submit and obtain approval for a 
new Class D Minor permit for a new plaza landscape plan.” Staff can take this to the 
Planning Commission as a memo to keep the Commission aware. 

Mr. Pringle: I’m fine with it just getting staff approval. (Mr. Nosari: It is a priority for us.) 
Ms. Christopher: I concur with the other Commissioners that this is a great project and will add value to the 
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town. 
 
Mr. Pringle made a motion to approve the point analysis for the Village at Breckenridge Plaza remodel, PL-
2016-0007, 655 South Park Avenue, as presented by staff, showing a passing score of zero (0) points. Mr. 
Schuman seconded, and the motion was carried unanimously (7-0). 
 
Mr. Pringle made a motion to approve the Village at Breckenridge Plaza remodel, PL-2016-0007, 655 South 
Park Avenue, together with the presented Findings and Conditions and the additional Condition 18 that, prior 
to Certificate of Completion, the applicant provide a new landscape plan and get approval from the staff on 
that plan. Mr. Schuman seconded and the motion was carried unanimously (7-0). 
 
COMBINED HEARINGS: 
1) Hester Fence Variance (CK) PL-2016-0014, 432 Golden Age Drive 
Mr. Kulick presented an application to request a variance to obtain approval for a 100 foot long fence to 
prevent snowdrift onto their property. In the summer of 2013, the USFS cut a section of trees to the south of the 
property. It also appears that the adjacent lot to the west has done wildfire mitigation, removing trees adjacent to 
the property. The Hester Residence was approved in 2011 and completed in March 2014. The rear outdoor living 
area in the southwest corner of the disturbance envelope includes a sitting area, recessed hot tub and gas fireplace. 
Upon the completion of the residence, the owners began having issues with snow accumulation at the outdoor 
space. The applicants constructed a 100 foot long fence between their property and Lot 58 (47 Peabody Terrace) 
to the west. The fence is 80 feet from the Peabody Right of Way and approximately 7 feet from the west side 
property line between the two homes (shown with the green arrow).  The applicants constructed the fence without 
a development permit. They have stated that this is not a privacy fence and its intent is to avoid snow 
accumulation, large snow drifts and over hanging cornices that could result in a safety hazard to people using the 
outdoor space. 
 
Section 9-1-19-47 Absolute, Fences, Gates and Gateway Entrance Monuments, details restrictions and exceptions 
for fences. One of the exceptions is privacy fencing to screen hot tubs. Fences are to have an open character and a 
maximum solid to void ratio of one to three (1:3). Privacy fences around hot tubs and spas shall not exceed six 
feet (6’) in height and shall not exceed fifteen feet (15’) in total length. 
 
Variances may be granted if the applicant proves a physical hardship and the Commission finds ALL of the 
following: 

1) There are special circumstances or conditions applying to the land, buildings, topography, vegetation, 
or other matters on the subject lot which would substantially restrict the effectiveness of the 
development in question; provided, however, that such special circumstances or conditions are unique 
to the particular use of which the applicant desires a variance and do not apply generally to all uses. 

2) That such special circumstances were not created by the applicant. 
3) That the granting of the variance will be in general harmony with the purposes of this chapter, and 

will not be materially detrimental to the persons residing or working in the vicinity, to the adjacent 
property, to the neighborhood, or to the public welfare in general. 

4) The variance applied for does not depart from the provisions of this chapter any more than is 
required. 

 
Staff does not support the variance request based on Section 9-1-11 (D) not being met. Staff finds no reason 
to assign positive or negative points under any Relative policies of the Development Code. The application 
fails Policy 47 (Absolute) Fences, Gates and Gateway Entrance Monuments and does not meet the Criteria for 
Approval for a Variance under 9-1-11 of the Town Code. 
 
The Planning Department recommends denial of the Hester Fence Variance (PL-20106-0014) at Lot 57, 
Filing 10, Highlands at Breckenridge, 432 Golden Age Drive, with the presented Findings. 
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Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Mr. Schuman: Would a temporary snow fence be allowed by the Town? (Mr. Kulick: I don’t think so.) I 

built one in Blue River for this same purpose. I wonder if a snow fence for a road would 
ever be allowed in town? 

Ms. Christopher: But if there are 15’ snowdrifts, would it really come down? (Mr. Kulick: The issue is the 
overall length and design.) (Ms. Puester: If it was for a road, it would be deemed as a public 
improvement, but I don’t recall this ever being a need before on roads in town or the 
highway.) 

 
Applicant Presentation: Mr. Jim and Ms. Vanessa Hester: 
Thanks for allowing us to have an opportunity to speak. I want to apologize for having the fence constructed 
without permission; this was our mistake and we just didn’t know as we are new to the area. I think Mr. 
Kulick and Ms. Puester’s report did a good job of describing what we are applying for but the real issue is 
safety. The winter of 2013-14, we had drifts that developed overhanging our hot tub and fire pit that were 
over 8-10’ high as shown in your packet; we weren’t living there during that season. This presented an 
obvious safety issue; if the snow came down on someone in the hot tub, it could bury them. The sole purpose 
of the fence is to prevent the obvious overhang. The fence is 40-50’ from our hot tub and our fire pit. To 
ensure that the wind that comes down from the mountain, and we want to make sure that we block the wind, 
the 100’ length was necessary to adequately address our safety concerns. Before we put in the fence we talked 
to a landscape architect to see if we could put in some landscaping, but the trees proposed were very costly 
and there was no assurance that it would fix the problem. We went with the fence, tried to go with something 
that was visibly appealing that was ok with the neighbors. We did integrate the fence with existing 
landscaping to make it more visibly appealing. There exists some heated pavement that contributes to the 
problem, so the snow wants to cornice over the heated area and over the hot tub. (Ms. Dudney: Could you 
explain the topography of the plan presented?) (The applicant described landscape and topography of this lot.) 
This has nothing to do with privacy, it has gaps between the rails; it is solely for safety. We discussed the 15’ 
allowance for a hot tub privacy fence. 15’ won’t get us the protection we need from the snow drifting. In your 
packet there is a picture on pages 43-44 that shows the overhang on the hot tub. You can see how the snow 
caved in and damaged the hot tub. (Mr. Ethan Guerra, Contractor who built the house: I’ve lived in 
Breckenridge for 30 years and I took the picture. The previous winter we had no issues. The next summer 
they did the clear cut and then the huge cornice drifting snow came in after the clear cutting of the trees. It 
was jaw dropping how much the snow drifted in. My guys didn’t want to clear it.) 
 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Mr. Pringle: The code doesn’t allow this; are you the only homeowner that has this problem? (Mr. 

Hester: We are the only homeowner. I can’t use the spaces as designed and approved and I 
can’t have guests over to the home when I haven’t been there because of the safety concerns. 
I do have snow removal responsibilities here but not this.) 

Ms Christopher: It sounds to me like it is a result from the adjacent clear cutting? (Mr. Kulick: It could be but 
it could be the location and the design of the space.) (Mr. Guerra: It was a result of the clear 
cut; as this problem did not exist before the clear cut. I was dumbfounded by this. I do 
avalanche control work at Breckenridge for the ski patrol. It provided the fetch area.) 

Ms. Leidal: What direction is the clear cut? (Mr. Hester: It is to the south west of the property.) (Mr. 
Guerra: I’m a strong advocate for the fence, but my staff was afraid to climb in there and 
shovel the snow off. I don’t see snow like that.) (Mr. Hester: Since the fence has been up, 
the depth is no more than the natural depth of the snow, no more than about 3’.) 

 
Ms. Christopher opened the hearing to public comment. There was no public comment and the hearing was 
closed. 
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Commissioner Final: 
Ms. Dudney: I understand how different things are here as opposed to Texas, but we have a zoning code 

and our job is to enforce the zoning code. And when you have an absolute policy a variance 
is very hard to get. We have to think about the precedent that is set and can you meet the 
variance requirements. I think you can solve your problem with spruce trees for about $800 
a piece. I can’t agree with this variance; it is bad precedent. Even though it is dangerous, you 
don’t have to go out to the hot tub. You can put up the hot tub fence, move the hot tub or put 
up trees. 

Mr. Pringle: I concur with Ms. Dudney’s analysis. It is a bad precedent for us to grant this variance. 
Incidentally, in Kansas there are trees that are placed as a snow barrier all over the place. 

Mr. Lamb: I work for the forest service but I didn’t cut the trees. I appreciate you working with the staff 
and your neighbors. I think the spruce trees are a good idea but I think if we approve this we 
will have a precedent. I don’t think this is a special unique circumstance to this property; 
other people have this problem. 

Mr. Schroder: Maybe number 3 of 4 could be met but to grant a variance, it says that it has to be in 
harmony with the chapter. The condition was created by you and the design of your own 
property. The final condition of what the neighbor does is for you to deal with. We do feel 
badly for you. I’m not happy to see the cornice, but the code doesn’t allow me to say ok to 
the fence based the four variance criteria. 

Mr. Schuman: I too agree with the other Commissioners. And I do support the denial to the variance. 
Ms. Leidal: I agree with the other Commissioners, and the staff analysis. We live in a unique 

environment and are bound to deal with these types of issues. 
Ms. Dudney: We have a quasi judicial role; the importance is that we need to be consistent to the code. 

We try very hard not to have variances so that others can anticipate what is going to happen. 
I know that seems harsh right now but it provides a fair process for all. 

Mr. Lamb: We sympathize. 
Ms. Christopher: I have compassion; I know that it is hard to live at 10,000 feet.  I personally walk through 8’ 

of snow to access my home. That is something we have to live through, but we must live 
with the code. 

Mr. Pringle: Point of clarification, if we find for denial, does this mean that the fence must be removed 
immediately?  (Ms. Puester: We will work with the applicant on the removal date. That is 
where this all started when we sent a notice. We let them keep the fence up during the 
variance process so they wouldn’t be possibly taking it down and putting it back up if it was 
approved. The removal of the fence may be in the spring now with the snow. With the 
neighbors not complaining I think that is acceptable if this is denied.) 

 
Mr. Pringle made a motion to accept the point analysis showing no point assignment or zero points for the 
Hester Fence Variance, PL-2016-0014, 432 Golden Age Drive. Mr. Schroder seconded, and the motion was 
carried unanimously (7-0). 
 
Mr. Pringle made a motion to recommend denial of the Hester Fence Variance, PL-2016-0014, 432 Golden 
Age Drive, with the presented denial findings and failure of Absolute Policy 47. Mr. Schroder seconded, and 
the motion was carried unanimously (7-0). 
 
Mr. Hester: How will planting the spruce trees work with the defensible space requirements? (Ms. Puester: 
You can call me tomorrow and staff can work with you to discuss possible solutions using landscaping.) 
 
OTHER MATTERS: 
1) Election of Chair and Vice Chair for 2016 
Mr. Lamb made a motion to nominate Mr. Ron Schuman as Chair of the Planning Commission through 
October 31, 2016. Ms. Dudney seconded, and the motion was carried unanimously (7-0). (Mr. Pringle: Are 
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there Commissioners up in November? (Ms. Puester: Yes, there will be 3 up and if things change we could go 
through this again depending on who is appointed.) 
 
Ms. Dudney made a motion to nominate Mr. Schroder as Vice Chair of the Planning Commission. Mr. 
Pringle seconded, and the motion was carried unanimously (7-0). 
 
Village at Breckenridge Plaza Renovation Call Up:   
Ms. Leidal: I struggled with the Call Up because we work so hard to maintain landscaping and I don’t see 
anything in the code that discusses replacement of landscaping. Section E, 1. and 2., Policy 22A, it talks about 
landscaping in an originally approved plan. I think we should consider adding “replacing existing 
landscaping”. What if someone in the historic district wants to come down and cut down trees when they 
don’t have an approved plan? (Mr. Grosshuesch:  Why don’t you allow us to take a look at this? Anyone who 
is coming to us with a remodel or addition, we would be working with a plan and point analysis and if they 
were modifying a property with a modern-day plan it would earn negative or positive points. This one was an 
oddball plan because it was initially approved in 1978, but we didn’t have a real comparable code to what we 
have now.) (Ms. Puester: I found a point analysis from 1978 for a master plan for the entire area, but it didn’t 
have a landscape plan.) (Mr. Grosshuesch: The landscape policy and point analysis has changed since then, 
reconciling old plans with new point analysis during updates & remodels can be challenging. We will talk 
about it internally and come back to you.) 
 
Mr. Pringle: If points were awarded for landscaping but the landscaping goes away with new modern point 
analysis, how do we reconcile it? (Mr. Grosshuesch: Yes, I see your point. If someone came in wanting to put 
in parking with landscape this would be a problem.) (Ms. Puester: Yes, and Ms. Leidal makes a good point 
with the new defensible space requirement.) We should be ahead of the curve of this one. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:00pm. 
 
   
  Ron Schuman, Chair 

-11-



Project Title:

Proposal:

Project Name and PC#: Miles Residence PL- 2016-0021

Project Manager:

PC Meeting Date:

Date of Report:

Property Owner:

Agent:

Address:

Legal Description:

Area of Site in Square Feet: 44,405 sq. ft. 1.02 acres

Existing Site Conditions:

Areas of Building: Proposed Square Footage

Class C Single Family Development Review Check List

Build a 4,300 gross square foot Single Family Residence 

Miles Residence

Chapin Lachance, Planner II

Rob and Jan Miles

Darci Hughes/ Riverbend Architecture & Planning

2289 Highlands Drive

Lot 185, the Highlands at Breckenridge Filing #7

 

March 1, 2016

This site is currently an undeveloped vacant lot which has considerable frontage on Highlands Dr. and 
slopes to the East, with approximately 36' decrease in elevation from the West to East. There are 15' wide 
utility easements on the SE and NE corners of the lot, and numerous existing mature pine trees on the 
central and western portions of the property.

February 19, 2016

Areas of Building: Proposed Square Footage

Lower Level: 1,480 sq. ft.

Main Level: 2,030 sq. ft.

Upper Level:

Accessory Apartment:

Garage: 792 sq. ft.

Total Gross Square Footage: 4,302 sq. ft. 0 sq. ft.

Land Use District (2A/2R):
#6, subject to the Delaware 
Flats Master Plan

Density (3A/3R): None Proposed: 3,510 sq. ft.

Mass (4R): None Proposed: 4,302 sq. ft.

F.A.R.

No. of Main Residence Bedrooms:

No. of Main Residence 
Bathrooms:

Height (6A/6R):*

 Drip line of Building / Non-
Permeable Sq. Ft.:

4,757 sq. ft. 10.71%

Hard Surface/Non-Permeable Sq. 
Ft.:

3,480 sq. ft. 7.84%

Open Space / Permeable Sq. Ft.: 36,168 sq. ft. 81.45%

Code Policies (Policy #) 

32 feet overall

*Max height of 35’ for single family outside Conservation District

1:12.65 FAR

4 bedrooms

4.5 bathrooms

Lot Coverage/Open Space (21R):

Snowstack (13A/13R):
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Required Square Footage: 870 sq. ft. 25% of paved surfaces is required

Proposed Square Footage: 1,518 sq. ft. (43.62% of paved surfaces)

Yes 948 SF

Required:

Proposed:

Fireplaces (30A/30R):

Number of Gas Fired:

Number of EPA Phase II Wood 
Burning:

None

Building/Disturbance Envelope?      Building

Architectural Compatibility                   
(5/A & 5/R):

Exterior Materials: 

Roof:

Within platted building envelope

Within platted building envelope

Parking (18A/18/R):

2 spaces

5 spaces

Setbacks (9A/9R):

12" horizontal cedar siding in SW3530 "Moss Olive, Dark Bronze metal panel siding, timber accents and 
trim in SW3542 "Charwood", Black metal railings and chimney caps, stone veneer in "Telluride Stone 
Northstar"

Asphalt shingles and Standing Seam Metal Roofing

Within platted building envelope

3 Gas Fired

Within platted building envelope

Outdoor Heated Space (33A/33R):

The architecture is compatible and blends in with the character of the surrounding neighborhood.

Roof:

Garage Doors:

Planting Type Quantity Size

Colorado Spruce 9 10' 

Colorado Spruce 2 8'

Quaking Aspen 5 1.5" cal-3" cal.

Twinberry Honeysuckle 8 5 gal.

Siberian Peashrub 5 5 gal.

Native Potentilla 11 5 gal.

Defensible Space (22A): Complies

Drainage (27A/27R): 

Driveway Slope:

Point Analysis  (Sec. 9-1-17-3):      

Staff Action:      

Comments:      

Additional Conditions of 
Approval:      

Prior to a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant will provide confirmation of the HERS Index score of 61-
80.

Asphalt shingles and Standing Seam Metal Roofing

948 sq. ft. of heated walkway and driveway apron is proposed and is not included in the total non-
permeable space, as it is snowmelted and therefore not included in requirement for snowstack.

The applicant has submitted a HERS Index of 63 for this development, earning positive two (+2) points 
under Policy 33R. The applicant also proposes 948 sq. ft. of heated walkway and driveway apron, 
warranting negative two (-2) points under the same policy and according to precedent, for a passing score 
of zero (0) points.

Staff has approved this application with the attached Findings and Conditions.

Complies

8.0 %

Landscaping (22A/22R):

Wood clad, painted to match siding
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Final Hearing Impact Analysis
Project:  Miles Residence Positive Points +2 
PC# PC-2016-0021 >0

Date: 2/19/2016 Negative Points - 2
Staff:   Chapin LaChance, Planner II <0

Total Allocation: 0
Items left blank are either not applicable or have no comment

Sect. Policy Range Points Comments
1/A Codes, Correlative Documents & Plat Notes Complies
2/A Land Use Guidelines Complies
2/R Land Use Guidelines - Uses 4x(-3/+2)
2/R Land Use Guidelines -  Relationship To Other Districts 2x(-2/0)
2/R Land Use Guidelines - Nuisances 3x(-2/0)
3/A Density/Intensity Complies
3/R Density/ Intensity Guidelines 5x (-2>-20)
4/R Mass 5x (-2>-20)
5/A Architectural Compatibility Complies
5/R Architectural Compatibility - Aesthetics 3x(-2/+2)
6/A Building Height Complies
6/R Relative Building Height - General Provisions 1X(-2,+2)

For all structures except Single Family and Duplex Units outside 
the Historic District

6/R Building Height Inside H.D. - 23 feet (-1>-3)
6/R Building Height Inside H.D. - 25 feet (-1>-5)
6/R Building Height Outside H.D. / Stories (-5>-20)
6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)

For all Single Family and Duplex/Multi-family Units outside the 
Conservation District

6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Minimum pitch of eight in twelve (8:12) 1x(0/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design - General Provisions 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Design and Grading 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Buffering 4X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Retaining Walls 2X(-2/+2)

7/R
Site and Environmental Design / Driveways and Site Circulation 
Systems

4X(-2/+2)

7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Privacy 2X(-1/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Wetlands 2X(0/+2) 

7/R Site and Environmental Design / Significant Natural Features 2X(-2/+2)

8/A Ridgeline and Hillside Development Complies
9/A Placement of Structures Complies
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Safety 2x(-2/+2)
9/R Placement of Structures - Adverse Effects 3x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Snow Storage 4x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Setbacks 3x(0/-3)
12/A Signs Complies
13/A Snow Removal/Storage Complies
13/R Snow Removal/Storage - Snow Storage Area 4x(-2/+2)
14/A Storage Complies
14/R Storage 2x(-2/0)
15/A Refuse Complies

15/R Refuse - Dumpster enclosure incorporated in principal structure 1x(+1)

15/R Refuse - Rehabilitated historic shed as trash enclosure 1x(+2)

15/R Refuse - Dumpster sharing with neighboring property (on site) 1x(+2)

16/A Internal Circulation Complies
16/R Internal Circulation / Accessibility 3x(-2/+2)
16/R Internal Circulation - Drive Through Operations 3x(-2/0)
17/A External Circulation Complies
18/A Parking Complies
18/R Parking - General Requirements 1x( -2/+2)
18/R Parking-Public View/Usage 2x(-2/+2)
18/R Parking - Joint Parking Facilities 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Common Driveways 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Downtown Service Area 2x( -2+2)
19/A Loading Complies
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20/R Recreation Facilities 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Private Open Space 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Public Open Space 3x(0/+2)
22/A Landscaping Complies
22/R Landscaping 2x(-1/+3)
24/A Social Community Complies
24/A Social Community / Above Ground Density 12 UPA (-3>-18)
24/A Social Community / Above Ground Density 10 UPA (-3>-6)
24/R Social Community - Employee Housing 1x(-10/+10)
24/R Social Community - Community Need 3x(0/+2)
24/R Social Community - Social Services 4x(-2/+2)
24/R Social Community - Meeting and Conference Rooms 3x(0/+2)
5/R Social Community - Conservation District 3x(-5/0)
24/R Social Community - Historic Preservation 3x(0/+5)

24/R
Social Community - Primary Structures - Historic 
Preservation/Restoration - Benefit

+1/3/6/9/12

24/R
Social Community - Secondary Structures - Historic 
Preservation/Restoration - Benefit

+1/2/3

24/R Social Community - Moving Primary Structures -3/10/15
24/R Social Community - Moving Secondary Structures -3/10/15

24/R Social Community - Changing Orientation Primary Structures -10

24/R Social Community - Changing Orientation Secondary Structures -2

24/R
Social Community - Returning Structures To Their Historic 
Location

+2 or +5

25/R Transit 4x(-2/+2)
26/A Infrastructure Complies
26/R Infrastructure - Capital Improvements 4x(-2/+2)
27/A Drainage Complies
27/R Drainage - Municipal Drainage System 3x(0/+2)
28/A Utilities - Power lines Complies
29/A Construction Activities Complies
30/A Air Quality Complies
30/R Air Quality -  wood-burning  appliance in restaurant/bar -2
30/R Beyond the provisions of Policy 30/A 2x(0/+2)
31/A Water Quality Complies
31/R Water Quality - Water Criteria 3x(0/+2)
32/A Water Conservation Complies
33/R Energy Conservation - Renewable Energy Sources 3x(0/+2)
33/R Energy Conservation - Energy Conservation 3x(-2/+2)

HERS index for Residential Buildings
33/R Obtaining a HERS index +1

33/R HERS rating = 61-80 +2 +2 
The development has a project HERS rating 
of 63

33/R HERS rating = 41-60 +3
33/R HERS rating = 19-40 +4
33/R HERS rating = 1-20 +5
33/R HERS rating = 0 +6

Commercial Buildings - % energy saved beyond the IECC minimum 
standards

33/R Savings of 10%-19% +1
33/R Savings of 20%-29% +3
33/R Savings of 30%-39% +4
33/R Savings of 40%-49% +5
33/R Savings of 50%-59% +6
33/R Savings of 60%-69% +7
33/R Savings of 70%-79% +8
33/R Savings of 80% + +9

33/R Heated driveway, sidewalk, plaza, etc. 1X(-3/0) - 2
The applicant proposes 948 sq. ft. of heated 
walkway and driveway apron.

33/R
Outdoor commercial or common space residential gas fireplace 
(per fireplace)

1X(-1/0)

33/R Large Outdoor Water Feature 1X(-1/0)
Other Design Feature 1X(-2/+2)

34/A Hazardous Conditions Complies
34/R Hazardous Conditions - Floodway Improvements 3x(0/+2)
35/A Subdivision Complies
36/A Temporary Structures Complies
37/A Special Areas Complies
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37/R Special Areas - Community Entrance 4x(-2/0)
37/R Special Areas - Individual Sites 3x(-2/+2)
37/R Special Areas - Blue River 2x(0/+2)
37R Special Areas - Cucumber Gulch/Setbacks 2x(0/+2)
37R Special Areas - Cucumber Gulch/Impervious Surfaces 1x(0/-2)
38/A Home Occupation Complies
38.5/A Home Childcare Businesses Complies
39/A Master Plan Complies
40/A Chalet House Complies
41/A Satellite Earth Station Antennas Complies
42/A Exterior Loudspeakers Complies
43/A Public Art Complies
43/R Public Art 1x(0/+1)
44/A Radio Broadcasts Complies
45/A Special Commercial Events Complies
46/A Exterior Lighting Complies
47/A Fences, Gates And Gateway Entrance Monuments Complies
48/A Voluntary Defensible Space Complies
49/A Vendor Carts Complies
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TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Miles Residence 
Lot 185, Highlands at Breckenridge # 7 

2289 Highlands Drive 
PL-2016-0021 

 

 
FINDINGS 

 
1. The project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose a prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives, which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated February 19, 2016 and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project. Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on March 01, 2016 as to the 
nature of the project. In addition to Commission minutes, the audio of the meetings of the Commission are 
recorded. 

 
CONDITIONS 

 
1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 

accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 

 
2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 

proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit expires eighteen (18) months from date of issuance, on September 1, 2017 unless a building 

permit has been issued and substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. In addition, if this permit 
is not signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit 
shall be 18 months, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 
5. Nothing in this permit shall constitute an agreement by the Town of Breckenridge to issue a certificate of 

occupancy for the project covered by this permit. The determination of whether a certificate of occupancy 
should be issued for such project shall be made by the Town in accordance with the applicable provisions 
of the Town Code, including, but not limited to the building code. 

 
6. Driveway culverts shall be 18-inch heavy-duty corrugated polyethylene pipe with flared end sections and a 

minimum of 12 inches of cover over the pipe. Applicant shall be responsible for any grading necessary to 
allow the drainage ditch to flow unobstructed to and from the culvert. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff has approved this application with the following Findings and 
Conditions and recommends the Planning Commission uphold this decision.  
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7. At the point where the driveway opening ties into the road, the driveway shall continue for five feet at the 

same cross slope grade as the road before sloping to the residence. This is to prevent snowplow equipment 
from damaging the new driveway pavement. 

 
8. Applicant shall field locate utility service lines to avoid existing trees. 

 
9. An improvement location certificate of the height of the top of the foundation wall and the height of the 

building’s ridge must be submitted and approved by the Town during the various phases of construction. The 
final building height shall not exceed 35’ at any location. 

 
10. At no time shall site disturbance extend beyond the limits of the platted building/site disturbance envelope, 

including building excavation, and access for equipment necessary to construct the residence. 
 

11. All hazardous materials used in construction of the improvements authorized by this permit shall be disposed 
of properly off site. 

 
12. Each structure which is authorized to be developed pursuant to this permit shall be deemed to be a separate 

phase of the development. In order for the vested property rights associated with this permit to be extended 
pursuant to Section 9-1-17-11(D) of the Breckenridge Development Code, substantial construction must be 
achieved for each structure within the vested right period of this permit. 

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT 

 
13. Applicant shall submit proof of ownership of the project site.  

 
14. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of final drainage, grading, utility, and 

erosion control plans. 
 

15. Applicant shall provide plans stamped by a registered professional engineer licensed in Colorado, to the Town 
Engineer for all retaining walls over four feet in height. 

 
16. Any exposed foundation wall in excess of 12 inches shall be finished (i.e. textured or painted) in accordance 

with the Breckenridge Development Code Section 9-1-19-5R. 
 

17. Applicant shall identify all existing trees, which are specified on the site plan to be retained, by erecting 
temporary fence barriers around the trees to prevent unnecessary root compaction during construction. 
Construction disturbance shall not occur beyond the fence barriers, and dirt and construction materials or 
debris shall not be placed on the fencing. The temporary fence barriers are to remain in place until issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy. 
 

18. Existing trees designated on the site plan for preservation which die due to site disturbance and/or 
construction activities will be required to be replaced at staff discretion with equivalent new trees, i.e. loss of a 
12 inch diameter tree flagged for retention will be offset with the addition of four 3-inch diameter new trees. 

 
19. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town of a construction staging plan indicating the 

location of all construction material storage, fill and excavation material storage areas, portolet and dumpster 
locations, and employee vehicle parking areas. No staging is permitted within public right of way without 
Town permission. Any dirt tracked upon the public road shall be the applicant’s responsibility to remove. 
Contractor parking within the public right of way is not permitted without the express permission of the 
Town, and cars must be moved for snow removal. A project contact person is to be selected and the name 
provided to the Public Works Department prior to issuance of the building permit.   

 
20. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from Town staff of a cut sheet detail for all exterior lighting on the 

site. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast 
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light downward. Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from finished grade or 7’ above 
upper decks. 

 
21. Applicant shall submit to and obtain approval from the Department of Community Development a 

defensible space plan showing trees proposed for removal and the approximate location of new 
landscaping, including species and size. Applicant shall meet with Community Development Department 
staff on the Applicant’s property to mark trees for removal and review proposed new landscaping to meet 
the requirements of Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping, for the purpose of creating defensible space. 
 

PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 
22. Applicant shall submit a final HERS Confirmed Home Energy Rating Report prepared by a prepared 

by a registered Residential Services Network (RESNET) design professional  using an approved 
simulation tool in accordance with simulated performance alternative provisions of the towns adopted 
energy code, showing that the completed development has a HERS Index number from 61-80. 

 
23. Applicant shall revegetate all disturbed areas with a minimum of 2 inches topsoil, seed and mulch. 
 
24. Applicant shall remove leaf clutter, dead branches and dead standing trees from the property, dead branches 

on living trees shall be trimmed to a minimum height of six (6) feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet 
above the ground. 
 

25. Applicant shall remove all vegetation and combustible material from under all eaves and decks. 
 

26. Applicant shall create defensible space around all structures as required in Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping. 
 

27. Applicant shall execute and record with the Summit County Clerk and Recorder a covenant and agreement 
running with the land, in a form acceptable to the Town Attorney, requiring compliance in perpetuity with the 
approved landscape plan for the property. Applicant shall be responsible for payment of recording fees to the 
Summit County Clerk and Recorder. 

 
28. Applicant shall paint all garage doors, metal flashing, vents, flues, rooftop mechanical equipment, meters, and 

utility boxes on the building a flat, dark color or to match the building color. 
 

29. Applicant shall screen all utilities. 
 

30. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast light 
downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15 feet in height from finished grade or 7 feet above 
upper decks. 

 
31. At all times during the course of the work on the development authorized by this permit, the permittee shall 

refrain from depositing any dirt, mud, sand, gravel, rubbish, trash, wastepaper, garbage, construction 
material, or any other waste material of any kind upon the public street(s) adjacent to the construction site. 
Town shall provide oral notification to permittee if Town believes that permittee has violated this 
condition. If permittee fails to clean up any material deposited on the street(s) in violation of this condition 
within 24 hours of oral notice from Town, permittee agrees that the Town may clean up such material 
without further notice and permittee agrees to reimburse the Town for the costs incurred by the Town in 
cleaning the streets. Town shall be required to give notice to permittee of a violation of this condition only 
once during the term of this permit.  

 
32. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application. 
Any material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town issuing a Stop Work Order and/or not issuing a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Compliance for the project, and/or other appropriate legal action under the Town’s 
development regulations. A Stop Work Order may not be released until a modification to the permit is 
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reviewed and approved by the Town. Based upon the magnitude of the modification, another hearing 
before the Planning Commission may be required. 

 
33. No Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance will be issued by the Town until: (i) all work done 

pursuant to this permit is determined by the Town to be in compliance with the approved plans and 
specifications for the project, and all applicable Town codes, ordinances and standards, and (ii) all conditions 
of approval set forth in the Development Permit for this project have been properly satisfied.  If either of these 
requirements cannot be met due to prevailing weather conditions, the Town may issue a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance if the permittee enters into a Cash Deposit Agreement providing that 
the permittee will deposit with the Town a cash bond, or other acceptable surety, equal to at least 125% of the 
estimated cost of completing any required work or any applicable condition of approval, and establishing the 
deadline for the completion of such work or the satisfaction of the condition of approval. The form of the 
Cash Deposit Agreement shall be subject to approval of the Town Attorney. “Prevailing weather conditions” 
generally means that work can not be done due to excessive snow and/or frozen ground. As a general rule, a 
cash bond or other acceptable surety will only be accepted by the Town between November 1 and May 
31 of the following year. The final decision to accept a bond as a guarantee will be made by the Town of 
Breckenridge.  

 
34. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004. 
 

35. Applicant shall construct all proposed trails according to the Town of Breckenridge Trail Standards and 
Guidelines (dated June 12, 2007). All trails disturbed during construction of this project shall be repaired 
by the Applicant according to the Town of Breckenridge Trail Standards and Guidelines. Prior to any trail 
work, Applicant shall consult with the Town of Breckenridge Open Space and Trails staff. 

 
36. The development authorized by this Development Permit may be subject to the development impact fee 

imposed by Resolution 2006-05 of the Summit County Housing Authority. Such resolution implements the 
impact fee approved by the electors at the general election held November 7, 2006. Pursuant to 
intergovernmental agreement among the members of the Summit Combined Housing Authority, the Town 
of Breckenridge is authorized to administer and collect any impact fee which is due in connection with 
development occurring within the Town. For this purpose, the Town has issued administrative rules and 
regulations which govern the Town’s administration and collection of the impact fee. Applicant will pay 
any required impact fee for the development authorized by this Development Permit prior to the issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

   
 (Initial Here) 
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Proposal:

Project Name/PC#: Budzynski Residence

Project Manager:

PC Meeting:

Date of Report:

Property Owner:

Agent:

Proposed Use:

Address:

Legal Description:

Area of Site: 432,115 sq. ft. 9.92 acres

Existing Site Conditions:

Chris Kulick, AICP

 

Class C Single Family Development Review Check List
Build a new 5,676 square foot single family residence 

March 1, 2016

The site slopes steeply at an average of 26% from west to east and is moderately 
covered with lodge-pole pine trees.  The property is bordered by existing residences to 
the north, and south.  The east side of the property is bordered by United States Forest 
Service Land. The property has sections of the Upper and Middle Flume Trails that are 
located on 25' trail easments. 

February 19, 2016

Arthur Budzynski

Tyler Mikolajczak, BHH Partners

Single Family Residence

540 Highlands Drive

Lot 141, Filing 5, The Highlands at Breckenridge

Areas: Proposed

Lower Level: 2,147 sq. ft.

Main Level: 2,265 sq. ft.

Garage: 1,264 sq. ft.

Total: 5,676 sq. ft.

Land Use District (2A/2R): 1  Subject to the Delaware Flats Master Plan

Density (3A/3R): Allowed: Unlimited Proposed: 4,412 sq. ft.

Mass (4R): Allowed: Unlimited Proposed: 5,676 sq. ft.

F.A.R.

Bedrooms:

Bathrooms:

Height (6A/6R):*

 Building / Non-Permeable: 4,927 sq. ft. 1.14%

Hard Surface/Non-Permeable: 3,223 sq. ft. 0.75%

Required: 806 sq. ft. 25% of paved surfaces is required

Proposed: 901 sq. ft. (27.96% of paved surfaces)

Code Policies (Policy #) 

32 feet overall

*Max height of 35’ for single family outside Conservation District unless  otherwise stated on the recorded plat

1:76.13 FAR

5 BR

5.5 BA

Lot Coverage/Open Space (21R):

Snowstack (13A/13R):
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No

Required:

Proposed:

Fireplaces (30A/30R):

Building/Disturbance Envelope?      Building Envelope

Architectural Compatibility                   
(5/A & 5/R):

Exterior Materials: 

Roof:

Garage Doors:

Site & Environmental Design (7R):

Landscaping (22A/22R):

Outdoor Heated Space (33A/33R):

2 spaces

Parking (18A/18/R):

The architecture of this house is compatible with the other existing houses in the 
neighborhood.

Per Policy 7/R, Section C. 2X(-2/+2): Retaining Walls: Smaller retaining wall systems, up 
to four feet (4') tall, that incorporate vegetation between walls without creating excessive 
site disturbance are preferred.  Due to the lot's steep topography the applicants have 
proposed an 8' natural rock retaining wall on the uphill side of the driveway. Based on 
past precedent staff recomends negative (-4) four points under Policy 7R. Most recently 
the Ankenbauer Residence (PC#2014007) was awarded negative (-4) four points for 
having retaining walls that exceeded 4' in height.

5 spaces

2x6 horizontal siding, 1x vetical siding, with wood fascia, trim, beams and columns, 
bronze window cladding, metal accent panels (less than 25% per façade)  and natural 
stone.

50 Year asphalt shingle with rusted corrugated metal accents

Windows and metal panel accents, color to match the home

5 Gas Fired

Landscaping (22A/22R):

Planting Type Quantity Size

Aspen 26  3" inch caliper, 50% multi Stem

Colorado Spruce 12 (8) 10'-12' tall, (4) 12'-14' tall

Potentilla 9 5 gallon

Buffalo Juniper 16 5 gallon

Peking Cotoneaster 9 5 gallon

Drainage (27A/27R): 

Driveway Slope:

Point Analysis(Sec. 9-1-17-3):      

Staff Action:      
Staff has approved the Budzynski Residence, PL-2016-0044, located at 540 Higlands 
Drive with the a passing point analysis of zero (0) points and the attached Findings and 
Conditions.  

Positive drainage away from the structure.  

8 %

Staff has reviewed the proposed landscpaing plan against other projects that have 
received positive points. Based on the quanity and size of the proposed landscaping 

Staff recommends awarding positive four (+4) points under Policy 22R.

Staff conducted a point analysis and found the proposal meets all Absolute Policies of 
the Development Code and warrants the following points under the Relative Policies: 
Negative four (-4) points under Policy 7 (Relative) Site & Environmental Design for 
retaining walls exceeding 4 feet in height; and positive four (+4) points under Policy 22 
(Relative) Landscaping for an above average landscaping proposal, for a total passing 
point analysis of zero (0) points.
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Final Hearing Impact Analysis
Project:  Budzynski Residence Residence Positive Points +4 
PC# PC-2016-0044 >0

Date: 2/19/2016 Negative Points - 4
Staff:   Chris Kulick, AICP <0

Total Allocation: 0
Items left blank are either not applicable or have no comment

Sect. Policy Range Points Comments
1/A Codes, Correlative Documents & Plat Notes Complies
2/A Land Use Guidelines Complies
2/R Land Use Guidelines - Uses 4x(-3/+2)
2/R Land Use Guidelines -  Relationship To Other Districts 2x(-2/0)
2/R Land Use Guidelines - Nuisances 3x(-2/0)
3/A Density/Intensity Complies
3/R Density/ Intensity Guidelines 5x (-2>-20)
4/R Mass 5x (-2>-20)
5/A Architectural Compatibility Complies
5/R Architectural Compatibility - Aesthetics 3x(-2/+2)
6/A Building Height Complies
6/R Relative Building Height - General Provisions 1X(-2,+2)

For all structures except Single Family and Duplex Units outside 
the Historic District

6/R Building Height Inside H.D. - 23 feet (-1>-3)
6/R Building Height Inside H.D. - 25 feet (-1>-5)
6/R Building Height Outside H.D. / Stories (-5>-20)
6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)

For all Single Family and Duplex/Multi-family Units outside the 
Conservation District

6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Minimum pitch of eight in twelve (8:12) 1x(0/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design - General Provisions 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Design and Grading 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Buffering 4X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Retaining Walls 2X(-2/+2) - 4 Retaining walls exceeding 4' in height

7/R
Site and Environmental Design / Driveways and Site Circulation 
Systems

4X(-2/+2)

7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Privacy 2X(-1/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Wetlands 2X(0/+2) 

7/R Site and Environmental Design / Significant Natural Features 2X(-2/+2)

8/A Ridgeline and Hillside Development Complies
9/A Placement of Structures Complies
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Safety 2x(-2/+2)
9/R Placement of Structures - Adverse Effects 3x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Snow Storage 4x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Setbacks 3x(0/-3)
12/A Signs Complies
13/A Snow Removal/Storage Complies
13/R Snow Removal/Storage - Snow Storage Area 4x(-2/+2)
14/A Storage Complies
14/R Storage 2x(-2/0)
15/A Refuse Complies

15/R Refuse - Dumpster enclosure incorporated in principal structure 1x(+1)

15/R Refuse - Rehabilitated historic shed as trash enclosure 1x(+2)

15/R Refuse - Dumpster sharing with neighboring property (on site) 1x(+2)

16/A Internal Circulation Complies
16/R Internal Circulation / Accessibility 3x(-2/+2)
16/R Internal Circulation - Drive Through Operations 3x(-2/0)
17/A External Circulation Complies
18/A Parking Complies
18/R Parking - General Requirements 1x( -2/+2)
18/R Parking-Public View/Usage 2x(-2/+2)
18/R Parking - Joint Parking Facilities 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Common Driveways 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Downtown Service Area 2x( -2+2)
19/A Loading Complies
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20/R Recreation Facilities 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Private Open Space 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Public Open Space 3x(0/+2)
22/A Landscaping Complies +4 For an above average landscaping proposal
22/R Landscaping 2x(-1/+3)
24/A Social Community Complies
24/A Social Community / Above Ground Density 12 UPA (-3>-18)
24/A Social Community / Above Ground Density 10 UPA (-3>-6)
24/R Social Community - Employee Housing 1x(-10/+10)
24/R Social Community - Community Need 3x(0/+2)
24/R Social Community - Social Services 4x(-2/+2)
24/R Social Community - Meeting and Conference Rooms 3x(0/+2)
5/R Social Community - Conservation District 3x(-5/0)
24/R Social Community - Historic Preservation 3x(0/+5)

24/R
Social Community - Primary Structures - Historic 
Preservation/Restoration - Benefit

+1/3/6/9/12

24/R
Social Community - Secondary Structures - Historic 
Preservation/Restoration - Benefit

+1/2/3

24/R Social Community - Moving Primary Structures -3/10/15
24/R Social Community - Moving Secondary Structures -3/10/15

24/R Social Community - Changing Orientation Primary Structures -10

24/R Social Community - Changing Orientation Secondary Structures -2

24/R
Social Community - Returning Structures To Their Historic 
Location

+2 or +5

25/R Transit 4x(-2/+2)
26/A Infrastructure Complies
26/R Infrastructure - Capital Improvements 4x(-2/+2)
27/A Drainage Complies
27/R Drainage - Municipal Drainage System 3x(0/+2)
28/A Utilities - Power lines Complies
29/A Construction Activities Complies
30/A Air Quality Complies
30/R Air Quality -  wood-burning  appliance in restaurant/bar -2
30/R Beyond the provisions of Policy 30/A 2x(0/+2)
31/A Water Quality Complies
31/R Water Quality - Water Criteria 3x(0/+2)
32/A Water Conservation Complies
33/R Energy Conservation - Renewable Energy Sources 3x(0/+2)
33/R Energy Conservation - Energy Conservation 3x(-2/+2)

HERS index for Residential Buildings
33/R Obtaining a HERS index +1
33/R HERS rating = 61-80 +2
33/R HERS rating = 41-60 +3
33/R HERS rating = 19-40 +4
33/R HERS rating = 1-20 +5
33/R HERS rating = 0 +6

Commercial Buildings - % energy saved beyond the IECC minimum 
standards

33/R Savings of 10%-19% +1
33/R Savings of 20%-29% +3
33/R Savings of 30%-39% +4
33/R Savings of 40%-49% +5
33/R Savings of 50%-59% +6
33/R Savings of 60%-69% +7
33/R Savings of 70%-79% +8
33/R Savings of 80% + +9

33/R Heated driveway, sidewalk, plaza, etc. 1X(-3/0)

33/R
Outdoor commercial or common space residential gas fireplace 
(per fireplace)

1X(-1/0)

33/R Large Outdoor Water Feature 1X(-1/0)
Other Design Feature 1X(-2/+2)

34/A Hazardous Conditions Complies
34/R Hazardous Conditions - Floodway Improvements 3x(0/+2)
35/A Subdivision Complies
36/A Temporary Structures Complies
37/A Special Areas Complies
37/R Special Areas - Community Entrance 4x(-2/0)
37/R Special Areas - Individual Sites 3x(-2/+2)
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37/R Special Areas - Blue River 2x(0/+2)
37R Special Areas - Cucumber Gulch/Setbacks 2x(0/+2)
37R Special Areas - Cucumber Gulch/Impervious Surfaces 1x(0/-2)
38/A Home Occupation Complies
38.5/A Home Childcare Businesses Complies
39/A Master Plan Complies
40/A Chalet House Complies
41/A Satellite Earth Station Antennas Complies
42/A Exterior Loudspeakers Complies
43/A Public Art Complies
43/R Public Art 1x(0/+1)
44/A Radio Broadcasts Complies
45/A Special Commercial Events Complies
46/A Exterior Lighting Complies
47/A Fences, Gates And Gateway Entrance Monuments Complies
48/A Voluntary Defensible Space Complies
49/A Vendor Carts Complies
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TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Budzynski Residence 
Lot 141, Highlands at Breckenridge # 5 

540 Highlands Drive 
PL-2016-0044 

 

 
FINDINGS 

 
1. The project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose a prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives, which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated February 19, 2016 and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project. Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on March 01, 2016 as to the 
nature of the project. In addition to Commission minutes, the audio of the meetings of the Commission are 
recorded. 

 
CONDITIONS 

 
1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 

accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 

 
2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 

proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit expires eighteen (18) months from date of issuance, on September 8, 2017 unless a building 

permit has been issued and substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. In addition, if this permit 
is not signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit 
shall be 18 months, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 
5. Nothing in this permit shall constitute an agreement by the Town of Breckenridge to issue a certificate of 

occupancy for the project covered by this permit. The determination of whether a certificate of occupancy 
should be issued for such project shall be made by the Town in accordance with the applicable provisions 
of the Town Code, including, but not limited to the building code. 

 
6. Driveway culverts shall be 18-inch heavy-duty corrugated polyethylene pipe with flared end sections and a 

minimum of 12 inches of cover over the pipe. Applicant shall be responsible for any grading necessary to 
allow the drainage ditch to flow unobstructed to and from the culvert. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff has approved this application with the following Findings and 
Conditions and recommends the Planning Commission uphold this decision.  
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7. At the point where the driveway opening ties into the road, the driveway shall continue for five feet at the 

same cross slope grade as the road before sloping to the residence. This is to prevent snowplow equipment 
from damaging the new driveway pavement. 

 
8. Applicant shall field locate utility service lines to avoid existing trees. 

 
9. An improvement location certificate of the height of the top of the foundation wall and the height of the 

building’s ridge must be submitted and approved by the Town during the various phases of construction. The 
final building height shall not exceed 35’ at any location. 

 
10. At no time shall site disturbance extend beyond the limits of the platted building/site disturbance envelope, 

including building excavation, and access for equipment necessary to construct the residence. 
 

11. All hazardous materials used in construction of the improvements authorized by this permit shall be disposed 
of properly off site. 

 
12. Each structure which is authorized to be developed pursuant to this permit shall be deemed to be a separate 

phase of the development. In order for the vested property rights associated with this permit to be extended 
pursuant to Section 9-1-17-11(D) of the Breckenridge Development Code, substantial construction must be 
achieved for each structure within the vested right period of this permit. 

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT 

 
13. Applicant shall submit proof of ownership of the project site.  

 
14. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of final drainage, grading, utility, and 

erosion control plans. 
 

15. Applicant shall provide plans stamped by a registered professional engineer licensed in Colorado, to the Town 
Engineer for all retaining walls over four feet in height. 

 
16. Any exposed foundation wall in excess of 12 inches shall be finished (i.e. textured or painted) in accordance 

with the Breckenridge Development Code Section 9-1-19-5R. 
 

17. Applicant shall identify all existing trees, which are specified on the site plan to be retained, by erecting 
temporary fence barriers around the trees to prevent unnecessary root compaction during construction. 
Construction disturbance shall not occur beyond the fence barriers, and dirt and construction materials or 
debris shall not be placed on the fencing. The temporary fence barriers are to remain in place until issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy. 
 

18. Existing trees designated on the site plan for preservation which die due to site disturbance and/or 
construction activities will be required to be replaced at staff discretion with equivalent new trees, i.e. loss of a 
12 inch diameter tree flagged for retention will be offset with the addition of four 3-inch diameter new trees. 

 
19. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town of a construction staging plan indicating the 

location of all construction material storage, fill and excavation material storage areas, portolet and dumpster 
locations, and employee vehicle parking areas. No staging is permitted within public right of way without 
Town permission. Any dirt tracked upon the public road shall be the applicant’s responsibility to remove. 
Contractor parking within the public right of way is not permitted without the express permission of the 
Town, and cars must be moved for snow removal. A project contact person is to be selected and the name 
provided to the Public Works Department prior to issuance of the building permit.   

 
20. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from Town staff of a cut sheet detail for all exterior lighting on the 

site. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast 
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light downward. Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from finished grade or 7’ above 
upper decks. 

 
21. Applicant shall submit to and obtain approval from the Department of Community Development a 

defensible space plan showing trees proposed for removal and the approximate location of new 
landscaping, including species and size. Applicant shall meet with Community Development Department 
staff on the Applicant’s property to mark trees for removal and review proposed new landscaping to meet 
the requirements of Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping, for the purpose of creating defensible space. 
 

PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 
 
22. Applicant shall revegetate all disturbed areas with a minimum of 2 inches topsoil, seed and mulch. 
 
23. Applicant shall remove leaf clutter, dead branches and dead standing trees from the property, dead branches 

on living trees shall be trimmed to a minimum height of six (6) feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet 
above the ground. 
 

24. Applicant shall remove all vegetation and combustible material from under all eaves and decks. 
 

25. Applicant shall create defensible space around all structures as required in Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping. 
 

26. Applicant shall execute and record with the Summit County Clerk and Recorder a covenant and agreement 
running with the land, in a form acceptable to the Town Attorney, requiring compliance in perpetuity with the 
approved landscape plan for the property. Applicant shall be responsible for payment of recording fees to the 
Summit County Clerk and Recorder. 

 
27. Applicant shall paint all garage doors, metal flashing, vents, flues, rooftop mechanical equipment, meters, and 

utility boxes on the building a flat, dark color or to match the building color. 
 

28. Applicant shall screen all utilities. 
 

29. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast light 
downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15 feet in height from finished grade or 7 feet above 
upper decks. 

 
30. At all times during the course of the work on the development authorized by this permit, the permittee shall 

refrain from depositing any dirt, mud, sand, gravel, rubbish, trash, wastepaper, garbage, construction 
material, or any other waste material of any kind upon the public street(s) adjacent to the construction site. 
Town shall provide oral notification to permittee if Town believes that permittee has violated this 
condition. If permittee fails to clean up any material deposited on the street(s) in violation of this condition 
within 24 hours of oral notice from Town, permittee agrees that the Town may clean up such material 
without further notice and permittee agrees to reimburse the Town for the costs incurred by the Town in 
cleaning the streets. Town shall be required to give notice to permittee of a violation of this condition only 
once during the term of this permit.  

 
31. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application. 
Any material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town issuing a Stop Work Order and/or not issuing a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Compliance for the project, and/or other appropriate legal action under the Town’s 
development regulations. A Stop Work Order may not be released until a modification to the permit is 
reviewed and approved by the Town. Based upon the magnitude of the modification, another hearing 
before the Planning Commission may be required. 

 
32. No Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance will be issued by the Town until: (i) all work done 

pursuant to this permit is determined by the Town to be in compliance with the approved plans and 

-32-



specifications for the project, and all applicable Town codes, ordinances and standards, and (ii) all conditions 
of approval set forth in the Development Permit for this project have been properly satisfied.  If either of these 
requirements cannot be met due to prevailing weather conditions, the Town may issue a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance if the permittee enters into a Cash Deposit Agreement providing that 
the permittee will deposit with the Town a cash bond, or other acceptable surety, equal to at least 125% of the 
estimated cost of completing any required work or any applicable condition of approval, and establishing the 
deadline for the completion of such work or the satisfaction of the condition of approval. The form of the 
Cash Deposit Agreement shall be subject to approval of the Town Attorney. “Prevailing weather conditions” 
generally means that work can not be done due to excessive snow and/or frozen ground. As a general rule, a 
cash bond or other acceptable surety will only be accepted by the Town between November 1 and May 
31 of the following year. The final decision to accept a bond as a guarantee will be made by the Town of 
Breckenridge.  

 
33. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004. 
 

34. The development authorized by this Development Permit may be subject to the development impact fee 
imposed by Resolution 2006-05 of the Summit County Housing Authority. Such resolution implements the 
impact fee approved by the electors at the general election held November 7, 2006. Pursuant to 
intergovernmental agreement among the members of the Summit Combined Housing Authority, the Town 
of Breckenridge is authorized to administer and collect any impact fee which is due in connection with 
development occurring within the Town. For this purpose, the Town has issued administrative rules and 
regulations which govern the Town’s administration and collection of the impact fee. Applicant will pay 
any required impact fee for the development authorized by this Development Permit prior to the issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

   
 (Initial Here) 
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Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
Subject: Permanent AT&T Wireless Communication Facility at Gold Creek Condominium  
 (Class A, Final Hearing; PL-2016-0016) 
 
Proposal: AT&T Wireless is proposing permanent screening for the existing temporary 

canvas-screened wireless antenna array. The antennas are to be located inside 
three enclosed structures on the roof at the north, east, and west elevations.  The 
walls are to be constructed of fiberglass manufactured to appear the same as the 
exterior materials of the Gold Creek Condominium building. The roof forms are 
simple sheds with a standing seam finish.  

 
Date: February 22, 2016 (For meeting of March 1, 2016) 
 
Project Manager: Michael Mosher, Planner III 
 
Applicant/Owner: Ron Schuman, Patriot Management, representing the Gold Creek Condominium 

Home Owner’s Association 
 
Agent: Brendan Thomson, Pinnacle Consulting (on behalf of AT&T Wireless)  
 
Address: 326 N. Main Street 
 
Legal Description: Odd Lot Condominiums 
 
Site Area:  0.4 acres (17,404 sq. ft.) 
 
Land Use District: 11- Residential and Commercial; 1:3 Floor Area Ratio (FAR); 12 Units per Acre 

(UPA) 
 
Historic District: 9 - North Main Transition Character Area  
 
Site Conditions: The existing building and parking areas occupy the entire property (edge to edge) 

except for a small 3-foot strip of landscaping planter along the west property 
edge.  

 
Adjacent Uses: North: Columbia Lode Multi-family residential 
 East: Andorra Condominiums 
 South: Legacy Place Townhomes 
 West: Main Street and Tract A Block 1, Parkway Center Sub 
 
Density: No Change (The Mechanical Room for the facility is located in the existing 

basement of the condominium.) 
 
Mass: No Change 
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Height: Recommended by LUGs: 26.0 feet to parapet 
 Existing Condominium: 34.2 feet to parapet 
 Proposed Utility Screening: 45.8 feet to parapet 
 
Parking: Existing: 34 Spaces 
 Proposed:  No Change 
 
Existing Setbacks: Front: 64-ft. 
 Sides: 0-ft. (ROW encroachment) 
 Rear: 21-ft. 
 
Proposed Setbacks: No change 

 
Item History 

 
The Odd Lot Condominiums (commonly referred to as Gold Creek Condos) were constructed in 1971. 
The building and parking are legal non-conforming to the Development Code for their density, mass, 
height, setbacks, parking, architectural finishes, open space, and circulation. (Staff notes, that the height 
added for the antenna screening was exempt from overall height measurement as it contained no density 
and screens utilities.)  
 
A development permit was approved by the Planning Commission on February 17, 2015 for permanent 
AT&T antenna screening (PL-2015-0005) which was to tie in with the approved Gold Creek Condo 
Exterior Remodel development permit which expired November 28, 2015. The HOA has chosen not to 
act on the approved remodel and the exterior remodel permit has expired.  
 
A development permit for temporary screening (PL-2015-0009) of the antennas was heard and approved 
at the same meeting as the permanent screening proposal. The term of this permit was set at 12-months. 
The temporary screening permit is expiring and the Gold Creek Condominiums HOA has not renewed a 
permit to remodel, therefore AT&T is proposing to add a new solution to permanent screening (this 
application) to blend in with the existing building (rather than expired exterior remodel development 
permit).  
 
This application is fulfilling a Condition of Approval associated with the existing temporary wireless 
facility application (PL-2015-0009).  The specific Findings and Conditions associated with that permit 
are: 
 
The twelve month term of this Development Permit is found and determined to be acceptable because: 
(i) the Permittee submitted an application for a permanent wireless communication facility in the same 
building concurrently with its application for a temporary permanent wireless communication facility; 
(ii) the Permittee’s application for a permanent wireless communication facility in the same building 
was approved concurrently with the approval of this Development Permit; (iii) unusual circumstances 
preclude the construction of the permanent wireless communication facility in a time period of less than 
twelve months; (iv) the Permittee sufficiently mitigated the negative effects of its temporary wireless 
communication facility such that the public health, safety, and welfare will not be jeopardized by the 
twelve month term of this Development Permit. 
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This permit expires twelve (12) months from date of issuance, on February 24, 2016. 
 
Not later than October 24, 2015, Permittee shall advise the Director of the Town’s Department of 
Community Development as to whether the Gold Creek Condominiums Homeowners’ Association is 
going forward with its building remodel plan as previously approved by the Town. If the Gold Creek 
Condominiums Homeowners’ Association is not going forward with its building remodel plan Permittee 
shall, prior to the expiration of this Development Permit, file a new application with the Director to 
modify its development permit for its permanent wireless communication facility (PL-2015-0005), which 
application shall take into account the failure of the Gold Creek Condominiums Homeowners’ 
Association to move forward with its building remodel. 
 
The October 24, 2015 notification date was placed in the permit to allow AT&T time to reapply for a 
permanent screening which complements the existing building before the temporary permit expiration 
date of February 24, 2016. The applicant has complied with this condition. 
 

Staff Comments 
 
In late November 2015, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) issued new regulations that 
will require changes to the Development Code.  Staff has been working on these revisions and plan on 
presenting these revisions to the Planning Commission in March. This application was deemed complete 
on February 17, 2016 and is being reviewed under the current polices. 
 
The HOA at Gold Creek Condominiums are not acting on the approved remodel that showed gable 
enclosures for the antenna screening. Since AT&T is still subject to the deadline requiring permanent 
screening of the cellular antennae, the design of the roof structures has been modified. Instead of a gable 
roof form for each structure, a simple shed form was suggested in keeping with the existing, and very 
simple, Gold Creek Condominium architecture. If, at some time in the future, the HOA decides to act on 
a remodel, the AT&T screening structures may be redesigned and incorporated into the remodel 
architecture of the building. 
 
Architectural Compatibility (5/A & 5/R): This policy is intended to encourage building designs that 
are compatible with the desired architecture of the surrounding neighborhood.  The existing building is 
out of character with the Conservation District, with un-textured painted post-tension concrete slabs for 
walls and roof with metal tube guardrails for the exterior walkway decking. The wood siding is painted 
T-111 panels.  
 
The applicants have proposed to shield the antennas on the north, east and west elevations.  Inside each 
of the three shed enclosures there would be four antennas on a steel mounted skid (or sector), a two (2) 
foot tall remote radio head and a two (2) foot tall surge protector.  None of the antennas or associated 
equipment will be visible.  
 
Sheets A-3 and A-4 in the packet show each elevation. A color/material sample is also shown on each 
sheet. The materials and colors of the walls will appear as those on the existing building. The roof of 
each shed will be a dark non-reflective, low profile, standing seam metal. Staff finds that the proposed 
materials, colors and roof forms draw the least amount of attention to the antennas on the roof.  
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To allow for the wireless signal to penetrate the walls, the walls of the sheds must be constructed of 
fiberglass material replicating the existing t-111 siding.  
 
There are some code sections in the Handbook of Design Standards for the Transition Character Areas 
of the Conservation District which address incorporating mechanical and/or utilities into the structure.  
 
Handbook of Design Standards for the Transition Character Areas of the Conservation District: 
 
Priority Policy 261. In residential areas, a gable roof should be the primary roof form in an individual 
building design. 
 

• Buildings that have a combination of sloping roof forms are encouraged because this configuration 
will help to reduce the perceived scale of building. 

• The use of dormers is encouraged to break up large roof surfaces and thereby reduce their perceived 
scale. 

• Mansard, A-frame, barrel and flat roofs are inappropriate. 
• Simple combinations of gable and other roof forms are appropriate. 
• A shed roof also is inappropriate as the primary roof form. It may be considered for a subordinate 
roof element or a secondary structure. 

• Mechanical equipment should be hidden; incorporated into roofs. 

 
Priority Policy 276. Screen mechanical equipment, utility boxes and service areas. 

• Use native plant materials or create screen walls with natural rock or wood.  
• Consider locating utilities in “secondary structures”  
• Locate mechanical equipment in secondary structures or in roof forms. 

(Emphasis added.) 
 
From the Development Code regarding screening:  
 
Storage (14/A &14/R): B. Screening: All types of commercial storage must be screened in an aesthetic 
manner from public view and from the view of surrounding areas. This shall include the screening of 
materials and equipment used by the business. (Ord. 19, Series 1988)(Emphasis added) 
 
This Wireless Communication Facility (WCF) installation is completely concealed within the sheds.  
 
Building Height (6/A & 6/R): The existing building is currently over the maximum height for the Land 
Use District and Character Area. The maximum height of the proposed antennas does not exceed the 
dormer heights on the approved development permit (PL-2015-0005) for the exterior remodel.  
 
Per the Development Code definition of Building Height: 
 
(D.) Exceptions: Building height measurement shall not include:  
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(2.)  For Non-residential structures and Multi-family structures: Elevator shaft extensions, chimneys, 
and focal elements such as church steeples, spires, clock towers or similar structures that have no 
density or mass, (in no instance shall any these structures extend over ten (10) feet above the specified 
maximum height limit) or the first five (5) feet of height within the first floor common area lobbies in 
Multi-Family structures. (Emphasis added).  
 
The tallest portion of the shed enclosures is 9’-6” tall. We have no concerns with the height as the 
existing building is legal nonconforming. 
 
Placement of Structures (9/A & 9/R): The existing building is at a zero (0) foot setback on both the 
north and south elevations which exceed the absolute and recommended setbacks. The proposed 
enclosures are set about 6-inches back from the edge of the building. They are not increasing any non-
conforming setback for the property. We have no concerns. 
 
Density/Intensity (3/A & 3/R)/Mass (4/R): The existing wireless facility the existing 
laundry/mechanical room in the basement of Gold Creek Condos for the mechanical equipment for 
AT&T.  There is no new square footage proposed.  The mechanical equipment in the basement has 
eliminated noise and any visual impact to the surrounding properties. There is no change proposed. 
 
Utilities Infrastructure (26/A & 26/R; 28/A): Utilities for new construction projects are generally 
required to be placed below grade. This is not feasible for wireless communications facilities, which are 
required to be above grade to be effective. The utility is concealed in the shed additions and equipment 
placed below grade in the mechanical room. Staff has no concerns. 
 
Land Use (2/A &2/R): The recommended land use for this district is commercial or residential. The 
proposed use is a commercial utility and is regulated by the FCC. There are no land use districts that are 
specifically designed for wireless commercial facilities. These uses are generally co-located on tall 
buildings in Town. The applicant has negotiated a lease with Gold Creek Condo HOA and plans to start 
construction this summer. 
 
Point Analysis (Section: 9-1-17-3): Staff finds no Relative policies under which positive or negative 
points should be assigned. We find that the application meets all applicable Absolute policies.  
 

Staff Recommendation  
 
Overall, the simple shed forms that match the finishes of the existing building provide the least visual 
impact to this building.  
 
The Planning Department recommends that the Planning Commission approve the point analysis for the 
Permanent AT&T Wireless Communication Facility at Gold Creek Condominium, PL-2016-0016, 
showing a passing score of zero (0) points. 
 
The Planning Department recommends that the Planning Commission approve the Permanent AT&T 
Wireless Communication Facility at Gold Creek Condominium with the attached Findings and 
Conditions. 
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Combined Hearing Impact Analysis

Project:  
AT&T Wireless Permanent Communication Facility at Gold 
Creek Condos Positive Points 0

Plan # PL-2016-0016 >0

Date: 2/22/2016 Negative Points 0
Staff:   Michael Mosher, Planner III <0

Total Allocation: 0
Items left blank are either not applicable or have no comment

Sect. Policy Range Points Comments
1/A Codes, Correlative Documents & Plat Notes Complies

2/A
Land Use Guidelines Complies

Both residential and commercial use is 
permitted per the LUD.

2/R Land Use Guidelines - Uses 4x(-3/+2)
2/R Land Use Guidelines -  Relationship To Other Districts 2x(-2/0)
2/R Land Use Guidelines - Nuisances 3x(-2/0)
3/A Density/Intensity Complies

3/R
Density/ Intensity Guidelines 5x (-2>-20) 0

The mechanical room for the facility is located 
in an exsting mechanical room in the 
basement.

4/R
Mass 5x (-2>-20) 0

The rooftop mechanical is located in shed 
enclosures and not counted as mass.

5/A Architectural Compatibility / Historic Priority Policies Complies
5/R Architectural Compatibility - Aesthetics 3x(-2/+2)
5/R Architectural Compatibility / Conservation District 5x(-5/0)

5/R
Architectural Compatibility H.D. / Above Ground Density 12 
UPA

(-3>-18)

5/R
Architectural Compatibility H.D. / Above Ground Density 10 
UPA

(-3>-6)

6/A Building Height Complies
6/R Relative Building Height - General Provisions 1X(-2,+2)

For all structures except Single Family and Duplex Units outside 
the Historic District

6/R Building Height Inside H.D. - 23 feet (-1>-3)

6/R

Building Height Inside H.D. - 25 feet (-1>-5) 0

The 9'-6" tall proposed sheds are considered 
architectural elements per the Building Height 
defintion, permitted 10' above the existing 
structure. The antennas will be concealed 
within these dormers.

6/R Building Height Outside H.D. / Stories (-5>-20)
6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)

For all Single Family and Duplex Units outside the Conservation 
District

6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Minimum pitch of eight in twelve (8:12) 1x(0/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design - General Provisions 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Design and Grading 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Buffering 4X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Retaining Walls 2X(-2/+2)

7/R
Site and Environmental Design / Driveways and Site Circulation 
Systems

4X(-2/+2)

7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Privacy 2X(-1/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Wetlands 2X(0/+2) 

7/R
Site and Environmental Design / Significant Natural Features 2X(-2/+2)

8/A Ridgeline and Hillside Development Complies
9/A Placement of Structures Complies
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Safety 2x(-2/+2)
9/R Placement of Structures - Adverse Effects 3x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Snow Storage 4x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Setbacks 3x(0/-3)
12/A Signs Complies
13/A Snow Removal/Storage Complies
13/R Snow Removal/Storage - Snow Storage Area 4x(-2/+2)
14/A Storage Complies
14/R Storage 2x(-2/0)
15/A Refuse Complies
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15/R
Refuse - Dumpster enclosure incorporated in principal structure 1x(+1)

15/R Refuse - Rehabilitated historic shed as trash enclosure 1x(+2)

15/R
Refuse - Dumpster sharing with neighboring property (on site) 1x(+2)

16/A Internal Circulation Complies
16/R Internal Circulation / Accessibility 3x(-2/+2)
16/R Internal Circulation - Drive Through Operations 3x(-2/0)
17/A External Circulation Complies
18/A Parking Complies
18/R Parking - General Requirements 1x( -2/+2)
18/R Parking-Public View/Usage 2x(-2/+2)
18/R Parking - Joint Parking Facilities 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Common Driveways 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Downtown Service Area 2x( -2+2)
19/A Loading Complies
20/R Recreation Facilities 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Private Open Space 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Public Open Space 3x(0/+2)
22/A Landscaping Complies
22/R Landscaping 2x(-1/+3)
24/A Social Community Complies
24/R Social Community - Employee Housing 1x(-10/+10)
24/R Social Community - Community Need 3x(0/+2)
24/R Social Community - Social Services 4x(-2/+2)
24/R Social Community - Meeting and Conference Rooms 3x(0/+2)
24/R Social Community - Historic Preservation 3x(0/+5)

24/R
Social Community - Historic Preservation/Restoration - Benefit +3/6/9/12/15

25/R Transit 4x(-2/+2)
26/A Infrastructure N/A Found to be not applicable
26/R Infrastructure - Capital Improvements 4x(-2/+2)
27/A Drainage Complies
27/R Drainage - Municipal Drainage System 3x(0/+2)
28/A Utilities - Power lines N/A Found to be not applicable
29/A Construction Activities Complies
30/A Air Quality Complies
30/R Air Quality -  wood-burning  appliance in restaurant/bar -2
30/R Beyond the provisions of Policy 30/A 2x(0/+2)
31/A Water Quality Complies
31/R Water Quality - Water Criteria 3x(0/+2)
32/A Water Conservation Complies
33/R Energy Conservation - Renewable Energy Sources 3x(0/+2)
33/R Energy Conservation - Energy Conservation 3x(-2/+2)

HERS index for Residential Buildings
33/R Obtaining a HERS index +1
33/R HERS rating = 61-80 +2
33/R HERS rating = 41-60 +3
33/R HERS rating = 19-40 +4
33/R HERS rating = 1-20 +5
33/R HERS rating = 0 +6

Commercial Buildings - % energy saved beyond the IECC minimum 
standards

33/R Savings of 10%-19% +1
33/R Savings of 20%-29% +3
33/R Savings of 30%-39% +4
33/R Savings of 40%-49% +5
33/R Savings of 50%-59% +6
33/R Savings of 60%-69% +7
33/R Savings of 70%-79% +8
33/R Savings of 80% + +9
33/R Heated driveway, sidewalk, plaza, etc. 1X(-3/0)

33/R
Outdoor commercial or common space residential gas fireplace 
(per fireplace)

1X(-1/0)

33/R Large Outdoor Water Feature 1X(-1/0)
Other Design Feature 1X(-2/+2)

34/A Hazardous Conditions Complies
34/R Hazardous Conditions - Floodway Improvements 3x(0/+2)
35/A Subdivision Complies
36/A Temporary Structures Complies
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37/A Special Areas Complies
37/R Community Entrance 4x(-2/0)
37/R Individual Sites 3x(-2/+2)
37/R Blue River 2x(0/+2)
37R Cucumber Gulch/Setbacks 2x(0/+2)
37R Cucumber Gulch/Impervious Surfaces 1x(0/-2)
38/A Home Occupation Complies
39/A Master Plan Complies
40/A Chalet House Complies
41/A Satellite Earth Station Antennas Complies
42/A Exterior Loudspeakers Complies
43/A Public Art Complies
43/R Public Art 1x(0/+1)
44/A Radio Broadcasts Complies
45/A Special Commercial Events Complies
46/A Exterior Lighting Complies No lighting proposed
47/A Fences, Gates And Gateway Entrance Monuments Complies
48/A Voluntary Defensible Space Complies
49/A Vendor Carts Complies

-47-



TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Permanent AT&T Wireless Communication Facility at Gold Creek Condominium 
Odd Lot Condominiums 

326 N. Main Street 
PL-2016-0016 

 
FINDINGS 

 

1. The proposed project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose any prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have a significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic 

effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated February 22, 2016, and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project. Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on March 1, 2016, as to the 
nature of the project. In addition to Commission minutes, the audio of the meetings of the Commission are 
recorded. 

 
6. If the real property which is the subject of this application is subject to a severed mineral interest, the 

applicant has provided notice of the initial public hearing on this application to any mineral estate owner 
and to the Town as required by Section 24-65.5-103, C.R.S.  

 
CONDITIONS 

1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 
accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 
 

2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 
proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit expires three years from date of issuance, on March 8, 2019, unless a building permit has been 

issued and substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. In addition, if this permit is not signed 
and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit shall be 
three years, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 
5. Nothing in this permit shall constitute an agreement by the Town of Breckenridge to issue a certificate of 

occupancy for the project covered by this permit. The determination of whether a certificate of occupancy 
should be issued for such project shall be made by the Town in accordance with the applicable provisions of 
the Town Code, including, but not limited to the building code. 

 
 

-48-



6. All hazardous materials used in construction of the improvements authorized by this permit shall be disposed 
of properly off site. 

 
7. Applicant shall field locate utility service lines to avoid existing trees. 

 
8. Each structure which is authorized to be developed pursuant to this permit shall be deemed to be a separate 

phase of the development.  In order for the vested property rights associated with this permit to be extended 
pursuant to Section 9-1-17-11(D) of the Breckenridge Development Code, substantial construction must be 
achieved for each structure within the vested right period of this permit.   

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT 

 
9. Existing trees designated on the site plan for preservation which die due to site disturbance and/or 

construction activities will be required to be replaced at staff discretion with equivalent new trees, i.e. loss of a 
12 inch diameter tree flagged for retention will be offset with the addition of four 3-inch diameter new trees. 

 
10. Applicant shall install a protective construction fence in a manner acceptable to the Town with an on-site 

inspection by Staff. 
 

11. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town of a construction staging plan indicating the 
location of all construction material storage, fill and excavation material storage areas, portolet and dumpster 
locations, and employee vehicle parking areas.  No staging is permitted within public right of way without 
Town permission.  Any dirt tracked upon the public road shall be the applicant’s responsibility to remove. 
Contractor parking within the public right of way is not permitted without the express permission of the 
Town, and cars must be moved for snow removal.  A project contact person is to be selected and the name 
provided to the Public Works Department prior to issuance of the building permit.   

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 

 

12. Applicant shall revegetate all disturbed areas where revegetation is called for, with a minimum of 2 inches 
topsoil, seed and mulch. 

 
13. Applicant shall paint all flashing, vents, flues, rooftop mechanical equipment and utility boxes on the building 

a flat, dark color or to match the building color. 
 

14. Applicant shall screen all utilities. 
 

15. At all times during the course of the work on the development authorized by this permit, the permittee shall 
refrain from depositing any dirt, mud, sand, gravel, rubbish, trash, wastepaper, garbage, construction 
material, or any other waste material of any kind upon the public street(s) adjacent to the construction site. 
Town shall provide oral notification to permittee if Town believes that permittee has violated this 
condition. If permittee fails to clean up any material deposited on the street(s) in violation of this condition 
within 24 hours of oral notice from Town, permittee agrees that the Town may clean up such material 
without further notice and permittee agrees to reimburse the Town for the costs incurred by the Town in 
cleaning the streets.  Town shall be required to give notice to permittee of a violation of this condition only 
once during the term of this permit.  

 
16. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application.  
Any material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town not issuing a Certificate of Occupancy or Compliance for the project, 
and/or other appropriate legal action under the Town’s development regulations. 

 
17. No Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance will be issued by the Town until: (i) all work done 

pursuant to this permit is determined by the Town to be in compliance with the approved plans and 

-49-



specifications for the project, and all applicable Town codes, ordinances and standards, and (ii) all conditions 
of approval set forth in the Development Permit for this project have been properly satisfied.  If either of these 
requirements cannot be met due to prevailing weather conditions, the Town may issue a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance if the permittee enters into a Cash Deposit Agreement providing that 
the permittee will deposit with the Town a cash bond, or other acceptable surety, equal to at least 125% of the 
estimated cost of completing any required work or any applicable condition of approval, and establishing the 
deadline for the completion of such work or the satisfaction of the condition of approval. The form of the 
Cash Deposit Agreement shall be subject to approval of the Town Attorney. “Prevailing weather conditions” 
generally means that work can not be done due to excessive snow and/or frozen ground. As a general rule, a 
cash bond or other acceptable surety will only be accepted by the Town between November 1 and May 
31 of the following year. The final decision to accept a bond as a guarantee will be made by the Town of 
Breckenridge.  

 
18. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004. 
 

19. The development authorized by this Development Permit may be subject to the development impact fee 
imposed by Resolution 2006-05 of the Summit County Housing Authority.  Such resolution implements the 
impact fee approved by the electors at the general election held November 7, 2006.  Pursuant to 
intergovernmental agreement among the members of the Summit Combined Housing Authority, the Town 
of Breckenridge is authorized to administer and collect any impact fee which is due in connection with 
development occurring within the Town.  For this purpose, the Town has issued administrative rules and 
regulations which govern the Town’s administration and collection of the impact fee.  Applicant will pay 
any required impact fee for the development authorized by this Development Permit prior to the issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

 
   
 (Initial Here) 
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REV DESCRIPTIONDATE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

GH

CH

PREPARED FOR:

188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST, SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

at&t
Mobility

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.
COU4235

326 MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

CONSULTING FIRM

A 90% ZD FOR REVIEW12/14/15

0000

8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111

B 100% ZD FOR REVIEW01/05/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL01/14/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL02.18.16

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.

at&t
Mobility

PROJECT AREA

PTN: 3755593165

326 N. MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

SUMMIT COUNTY
SITE DIRECTIONS PROJECT DESCRIPTION CLIENT

PROPERTY OWNER

VICINITY MAP

DEPART 188 INVERNESS DR W, ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112 ON
INVERNESS DR W (NORTH). ROAD NAME CHANGES TO LOCAL
ROAD(S). TURN LEFT (WEST) ONTO E DRY CREEK RD. TAKE
RAMP (RIGHT) ONTO I-25 [US-87]. AT EXIT 209B, TAKE RAMP
(RIGHT) ONTO US-6 [W 6TH AVE]. TAKE RAMP (RIGHT) ONTO
I-70AT EXIT 203, TURN RIGHT ONTO RAMP. AT ROUNDABOUT,
TAKE THE FOURTH EXIT ONTO CO-9 [N SUMMIT BLVD]. BEAR
RIGHT (SOUTH) ONTO LOCAL ROAD(S). BEAR LEFT (SOUTH)
ONTO CO-9 [HIGHWAY 9]. AT ROUNDABOUT, TAKE THE FIRST
EXIT ONTO (N) MAIN ST. ARRIVE 326 S MAIN ST, BRECKENRIDGE,
CO 80424.

THIS IS A MODIFICATION OF AN AT&T "TEMPORARY"
TELECOMMUNICATIONS CELL SITE. MODIFICATIONS
INCLUDE:  CONSTRUCTION OF (3) NEW RF FRIENDLY
ANTENNA SCREENS ON ROOFTOP OF EXISTING BUILDING.
INSTALLATION OF (12) PANEL ANTENNAS AND (12) RRH
UNITS BEHIND NEW ANTENNA INSIDE NEW ANTENNA
SCREENS. ANTENNA SCREENS SHALL BE PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING COLOR AND PATTERN AND
NEW STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF (MUSTANG BROWN OR
EQUAL) INSTALLED. RELOCATE EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSORS INSIDE NEW CUPOLAS, (3) TOTAL. INSTALL
NEW CEILING MOUNTED FOLDING ROOF ACCESS LADDER.
INSTALL NEW RADIO CARDS IN EXISTING EQUIPMENT RACK
INSIDE EXISTING AT&T EQUIPMENT ROOM IN BASEMENT
OF EXISTING BUILDING.

T-1 TITLE SHEET

A-1 SITE PLAN
A-2 NEW ROOF PLAN
A-3 NEW WEST ELEVATION

LS-1 SITE SURVEY

1. THIS WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY WILL
MEET THE HEALTH AND SAFETY STANDARDS FOR
ELECTROMAGNETIC FIELD EMISSIONS AS ESTABLISHED BY
THE FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION OR ANY
SUCCESSOR THEREOF, AND ANY OTHER FEDERAL OR
STATE AGENCY.

2. THIS WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY WILL
MEET THE REGULATIONS OF THE FEDERAL
COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION REGARDING PHYSICAL
AND ELECTROMAGNETIC INTERFERENCE.

3. LIGHTING OR SIGNS WILL BE PROVIDED ONLY AS
REQUIRED BY FEDERAL OR STATE AGENCIES.

AT&T MOBILITY
188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST
SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112
ANNIE ZOCCO
PHONE: 954-243-5536

ZONING:

JURISDICTION:

B-11

TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE

APN: 300070

BUILDING CODES: 2012 IBC W/ TOWN AMENDMENTS
2012 IMC W/ TOWN AMENDMENTS
2011 NEC W/ TOWN AMENDMENTS
2012 IFC W/ TOWN AMENDMENTS

USE: COMMERICAL
PARENT PARCEL: 17,611.77 SQ. FT
PROPOSED LEASE AREA: 190.86 SQ. FT

PINNACLE CONSULTING
8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650
GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111
CONTACT: BRENDEN THOMSON
PHONE: 720-460-2090

GOLD CREEK HOMEOWNERS
ASSOCIATION,
326 N MAIN ST.,
BRECKENRIDGE, CO 80424
CONTACT: RON SCHUMAN
PHONE: 970-485-5901

T-1

TITLE SHEET

COU4235

AT&T MOBILITY
188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST
SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

PROJECT DATA GENERAL NOTES

SHEET INDEX

DESIGNER

TOWER OWNER

SITE ACQUISITION

PROPOSED ANTENNA LOCATIONS
A-4 NEW EAST ELEVATION

FA: 12781454

AT&T (RF): DATE:

AT&T (CONST.): DATE:

AT&T (RE): DATE:

LANDLORD: DATE:

APPROVALS

AT&T (RF): DATE:

AT&T (CONST.): DATE:

AT&T (RE): DATE:

LANDLORD: DATE:

APPROVALSPROPOSED ANTENNA LOCATION (ALPHA SECTOR)
LATITUDE: 39° 29' 13.295'' NORTH (NAD83)
LONGITUDE: 106° 02' 44.716'' WEST (NAD83)
ELEVATION AT GROUND = 9540.5' (NAVD88)

9PE
ERLE

SS
 D

R

CHRISTIE LN

PA
RK

 A
V

E

M
A

IN
 S

T

W
O

O
D

S D
R

FREN
CH

 ST

SKI HILL RD

SITE PROPOSED ANTENNA LOCATION ( BETA SECTOR)
LATITUDE: 39° 29' 12.849'' NORTH (NAD83)
LONGITUDE: 106° 02' 44.472'' WEST (NAD83)
ELEVATION AT GROUND = 9540.5' (NAVD88)
PROPOSED ANTENNA LOCATION ( GAMMA SECTOR)
LATITUDE: 39° 29' 12.847'' NORTH (NAD83)
LONGITUDE: 106° 02' 44.953'' WEST (NAD83)
ELEVATION AT GROUND = 9540.5' (NAVD88)

A-5 NEW EQUIPMENT ROOM LAYOUT
RF1 NEW ANTENNA CONFIGURATION

PINNACLE CONSULTING
8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650
GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111
CONTACT: CHRISTINE GORDON
PHONE: 720-460-2090

A-6 DETAILS AND NOTES
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ET

ET

TV

GM

T

REV DESCRIPTIONDATE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

GH

CH

PREPARED FOR:

188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST, SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

at&t
Mobility

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.
COU4235

326 MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

CONSULTING FIRM

A 90% ZD FOR REVIEW12/14/15

0000

8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111

B 100% ZD FOR REVIEW01/05/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL01/14/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL02.18.16

A-1

SITE PLAN

 SITE PLAN 1

PROPERTY LINE

PR
O

PE
RT

Y
 L

IN
E

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING
BUILDING

EXISTING
BUILDING ROOF
LINE

EXISTING RAILROAD
TIE

EXISTING CURB

EXISTING TELCO

S/
W

EXISTING TREE (TYP.)

EXISTING
VENT (TYP.)

EXISTING
TRANSFORMER

EXISTING ELECTRIC
EASEMENT DOC. NO. 983228

PRO
PE

RTY
 LIN

E

EXISTING CONCRETE
GUTTER

NEW AT&T
ANTENNAS
INSIDE ANTENNA
CONCEALMENT
SCREEN

EXISTING
SHED

EXISTING TELCO
MANHOLE

EXISTING
BUILDING
OVERHANG

EXISTING
BUILDING
OVERHANG

NEW AT&T
ANTENNAS
INSIDE
ANTENNA
CONCEALMENT
SCREEN

EXISTING
PARKING

EXISTING
PARKING

EXISTING
MECHANICAL
EQUIP.  (TYP.)

1/2
RF1

EXISTING
DOG HOUSE

NEW ROOF HATCH
AND FOLDING ACCESS
LADDER; RE: SHEET A-2

1/2
RF1

EXISTING AT&T
EQUIPMENT ROOM
(BASEMENT LEVEL);
RE: SHEET A-5

39
'-9

"

1/2
RF1

EXISTING
ROOF LINE

NEW AT&T
ANTENNAS
INSIDE
ANTENNA
CONCEALMENT
SCREEN
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EXISTING (2) AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS WITH
EXISTING (2) RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

REV DESCRIPTIONDATE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

GH

CH

PREPARED FOR:

188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST, SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

at&t
Mobility

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.
COU4235

326 MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

CONSULTING FIRM

A 90% ZD FOR REVIEW12/14/15

0000

8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111

B 100% ZD FOR REVIEW01/05/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL01/14/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL02.18.16

A-2

ENLARGED ROOF PLAN

2ENLARGED ROOF PLAN

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

EXISTING CABLE
TRAY, MODIFY AS
REQUIRED TO
ACCOMMODATE NEW
CUPOLA LOCATION

NEW ROOF HATCH
WITH FOLDING
ACCESS LADDER

EXISTING DOG
HOUSE, TO
REMAIN

EXISTING GPS
ANTENNA

EXISTING VENTS
(TYP.)

EXISTING MECHANICAL
EQUIP. (TYP.)

EXISTING (2) AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS
WITH EXISTING (2)
RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

NEW (2) AT&T PANEL
ANTENNAS WITH (2)
NEW RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

NEW (2) AT&T PANEL
ANTENNAS WITH (2)
NEW RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

19
'-6

"

NEW (2) AT&T PANEL
ANTENNAS WITH (2)
NEW RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

10
'-2

"

14'-8"

10'-2"

NEW ANTENNA CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

EXISTING (2) AT&T PANEL
ANTENNAS WITH EXISTING (2)
RRH UNITS MOUNTED BEHIND

4'-0"

1'-0" 4'-6"

8'-0"

1'-10"

2'-6"

12
'-0

"

12'-0" 3'-6"

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BUILDING TRIM COLOR DARK
GREY-BROWN (

EXISTING
EQUIPMENT ROOM
IN BASEMENT

4'-
0"

3'-
6"

3"
3"

20
'-0

"

10
'-8

"
3"

3"

20'-0"
3"3"

4'-0"
TYP.

8'-0"

19
'-6

"

10'-2" 1'-10"

12
'-0

"
4'-

0"
3'-

6"

3"
3"

20
'-0

"

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BUILDING TRIM COLOR DARK
GREY-BROWN (

NEW ANTENNA
CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS
PAINTED TO MATCH
EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

NEW ANTENNA
CONCEALMENT SCREEN,
WITH NEW RF FRIENDLY
PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING
BUILDING COLOR
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REV DESCRIPTIONDATE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

GH

CH

PREPARED FOR:

188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST, SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

at&t
Mobility

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.
COU4235

326 MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

CONSULTING FIRM

A 90% ZD FOR REVIEW12/14/15

0000

8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111

B 100% ZD FOR REVIEW01/05/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL01/14/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL02.18.16

A-3
2

EXISTING AND NEW
WEST ELEVATIONS

NEW WEST  ELEVATION

EXISTING BUILDING

EXISTING
GRADE

39
'-0

" 
RA

D
 C

E
N

TE
R 

(E
) &

 (N
)

A
N

TE
N

N
A

S

43
'-0

" 
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O
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E
) &

 (N
) A

N
TE

N
N

A
S

34
'-7

"
T.

O
. (

E
) B

U
IL

D
IN

G

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

NEW ANTENNA CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

(2) EXISTING & (2) NEW AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS WITH (2)
EXISTING & (2) NEW RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BUILDING TRIM COLOR DARK
GREY-BROWN

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BROWN BUILDING TRIM COLOR

NEW ANTENNA CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

(2) EXISTING & (2) NEW AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS WITH (2)
EXISTING & (2) NEW RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF  (CLASSIC METAL
ROOFING SYSTEMS; COLOR:
MUSTANG BROWN OR EQUAL)

NEW  RF FRIENDLY MATERIAL TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING SIDING
COLOR (SHERWIN WILLIAMS: SW 6134
NETSUKE OR EQUAL) AND PATTERN

42
77

'-1
" 
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E
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REV DESCRIPTIONDATE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

GH

CH

PREPARED FOR:

188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST, SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

at&t
Mobility

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.
COU4235

326 MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

CONSULTING FIRM

A 90% ZD FOR REVIEW12/14/15

0000

8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111

B 100% ZD FOR REVIEW01/05/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL01/14/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL02.18.16

A-4

EXISTING AND
NEW EAST

ELEVATIONS

2NEW EAST ELEVATION

EXISTING BUILDING

EXISTING
GRADE

39
'-0

" 
RA

D
 C

E
N

TE
R 

(E
) &

 (N
)

A
N

TE
N

N
A

S

43
'-0

" 
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E
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 (N
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N
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S
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'-7

"
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E
) B

U
IL

D
IN

G

46
'-0

" 
T.

O
. N

E
W

 A
N

TE
N

N
A

 S
CR

E
E

N

NEW ROOF HATCH
WITH FOLDING
ACCESS LADDER

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BROWN BUILDING TRIM COLOR

NEW ANTENNA CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

(2) EXISTING & (2) NEW AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS WITH (2)
EXISTING & (2) NEW RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

NEW ANTENNA CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

(2) EXISTING & (2) NEW AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS WITH (2)
EXISTING & (2) NEW RRH UNITS
MOUNTED BEHIND

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BROWN BUILDING TRIM COLOR

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF  (CLASSIC METAL
ROOFING SYSTEMS; COLOR:
MUSTANG BROWN OR EQUAL)

NEW  RF FRIENDLY MATERIAL TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING SIDING
COLOR (SHERWIN WILLIAMS: SW 6134
NETSUKE OR EQUAL) AND PATTERN
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REV DESCRIPTIONDATE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

GH

CH

PREPARED FOR:

188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST, SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

at&t
Mobility

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.
COU4235

326 MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

CONSULTING FIRM

A 90% ZD FOR REVIEW12/14/15

0000

8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111

B 100% ZD FOR REVIEW01/05/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL01/14/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL02.18.16

A-5

EXISTING EQUIPMENT
ROOM LAYOUT

1EXISTING EQUIPMENT ROOM LAYOUT

EXISTING EQUIPMENT
ROOM AT BASEMENT LEVEL

EXISTING BATTERY
RACK

EXISTING POWER
PLANT

±19'-1" EXISTING EQUIPMENT ROOM

±
10

'-0
" 

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T 

RO
O

M

EXISTING CABLE
LADDER

EXISTING FIBER EQUIPMENT
RACK, INSTALL NEW RADIO
CARDS

EXISTING EQUIPMENT RACK,
(TYP.2)
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REV DESCRIPTIONDATE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

GH

CH

PREPARED FOR:

188 INVERNESS DRIVE WEST, SUITE 400
ENGLEWOOD, CO 80112

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

at&t
Mobility

HWY 9 AND MAIN ST.
COU4235

326 MAIN STREET
BRECKENRIDGE, CO

CONSULTING FIRM

A 90% ZD FOR REVIEW12/14/15

0000

8480 EAST ORCHARD ROAD
SUITE 3650

GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111

B 100% ZD FOR REVIEW01/05/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL01/14/16

0 FINAL ZD FOR SUBMITTAL02.18.16

RF1

ANTENNA
CONFIGURATION

1

SECTOR TYPE TECHNOLOGY

A1
A2
A3
A4
B1
B2
B3
B4
C1
C2
C3
C4

EXISTING UMTS

LTE PCS

NEW
NEW

NEW
NEW

NEW
NEW

PD
F

ALPHA

BETA

GAMMA

SECTOR DISTANCE &
CABLE TYPE

CABLE LENGTH TABLE

8-AWG 2

8-AWG 2

(2) 8-AWG 6

(2) 8-AWG 6

 12-AWG 2

 12-AWG 2

TOTAL
CABLE

LENGTH

D
C-

6

SQ
U

ID

DISTANCE &
CABLE TYPE

DISTANCE &
CABLE TYPE

RR
H

12'

12'

105'

105'

10'

10'

127'

127'

UMTS

LTE 700/AWS
UMTS

LTE 700/AWS

EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING

LTE 700
LTE AWS

LTE PCS
LTE AWS

LTE PCS
LTE AWS

EXISTING (2) RRH UNITS
NEW LOCATION
BEHIND ANTENNAS
INSIDE NEW ANTENNA
SCREEN

EXISTING (2) AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS
NEW LOCATION
INSIDE CUPOLA

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

NEW (2) RRH UNIT,
BEHIND ANTENNAS
INSIDE NEW CUPOLA

EXISTING (2) AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS
NEW LOCATION
INSIDE SCREEN

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

EXISTING (2) RRH
UNITS NEW LOCATION
BEHIND ANTENNAS
INSIDE SCREEN

NEW (2) AT&T PANEL
ANTENNAS INSIDE
NEW ANTENNA
SCREEN

NEW (2) RRH UNIT,
BEHIND NEW
ANTENNA

NEW (2) AT&T PANEL
ANTENNAS, INSIDE
NEW SCREEN

8-AWG 2 (2) 8-AWG 6  12-AWG 212' 105' 10' 127'

20
'-0

"

4'-
0"

12
'-0

"
3'-

6"

EXISTING
ROOF LINE

NEW ROOF HATCH
AND FOLDING
ACCESS LADDER

EXISTING (2) AT&T
PANEL ANTENNAS
NEW LOCATION
INSIDE SCREEN

EXISTING SURGE
SUPPRESSOR, NEW
LOCATION

EXISTING (2) RRH
UNITS NEW LOCATION
BEHIND ANTENNAS
INSIDE SCREEN

NEW (2) RRH UNIT,
BEHIND NEW
ANTENNA

NEW (2) AT&T PANEL
ANTENNAS, INSIDE
NEW SCREEN

EXISTING
ROOF LINE

EXISTING
OVERHANG

8'-0"

3'-5"4'-0"12'-0"3" 4"

3"
10

'-2
"

3"

10
'-6

"

3"

3" 10'-2"

EXISTING
OVERHANG

4'-
6"

2'-6"

3"

NEW ANTENNA CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BROWN BUILDING TRIM COLOR

3"

3"
3'-

6"
4'-

0"
12

'-0
"

3"

4'-0"
TYP.

NEW ANTENNA CONCEALMENT
SCREEN, WITH NEW RF
FRIENDLY PANELS PAINTED TO
MATCH EXISTING BUILDING
COLOR

NEW  STANDING SEAM METAL
ROOF WITH 1-1/2" SEAM HEIGHT
AT 12-1/2" BETWEEN SEAMS,
COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING
BROWN BUILDING TRIM COLOR
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Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
Subject: Resubdivision of Tracts C and Tract D, Runway Subdivision  
 (Class A, Combined Hearing; PL-2016-0038) 
 
Proposal: A proposal to resubdivide Tracts C and D, to create one new tract (Tract D-2) for 

a total of three tracts. 
 
Date: February 19, 2016 (For meeting of March 1, 2016) 
 
Project Manager: Julia Puester, AICP, Senior Planner 
 
Applicant/Owner:  
 Tract D: Colorado Mountain College  
 Tract C: Town of Breckenridge 
 
Address: 107 Denison Placer Road 
 
Legal Description: Tract C and Tract D, Runway Subdivision 
 
Site Area:  17.0665 acres (743,302 square feet)  
 
Land Use District: 31: Commercial, Industrial, Public Open Space, Public Facilities (including, 

without limitation, Public Schools and Public Colleges), child care facilities, and 
surface parking. Employee housing is an allowed use on Block 11. 

 
Site Conditions: Tract D contains Colorado Mountain College and associated parking lots. The 

Blue River runs along the eastern property line and Denison Placer Road to the 
west. This portion of the site has some slightly sloping dredge rock material. 
There is a triangular access easement in the lower southwestern corner of the 
property adjacent to Denison Placer right of way for the purpose of a public road, 
snow storage and public sidewalks or paths. A 25 foot gas easement and a 50 foot 
river and pedestrian easement run along the eastern property line. Tract C is 
relatively flat with a slight slope downward toward the Blue River to the east. 

 
Adjacent Uses: North: Coyne Valley Road, McCain property 
 South: vacant Block 11 housing parcel (future Denison Placer housing) 
 East: Blue River, Highway 9 
 West: Commercial, Airport Road 
 
Lot Coverage: Existing: 
 Tract C: 1.0465 acres (45,587 sq. ft.)  
 Tract D: 16.02 acres (697,715 sq. ft.) 
 
 Proposed: 
 Tract C: 1.0465 acres (45,587 sq. ft.)  
 Tract D-1: 14.973 acres (652,128 sq. ft.) 
 Tract D-2: 1.0465 acres (45,587 sq. ft.) 
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Item History 
 

Block 11 is approximately 72 acres located towards the northern end of Town on the west side of 
Highway 9 between Coyne Valley Road and Valley Brook Street. The property was acquired jointly by 
the Town and the Summit School District through a condemnation process. The Town quit claimed two 
parcels (approximately 20 acres) to the School District and retained ownership of the remaining 52 
acres. Upper Blue Elementary School is on one of the School District parcels and the other 8.7 acre 
School District parcel is vacant. In 2007, the Town Council entered into an MOU and approved the 
Colorado Mountain College site plan, creating Tract C and D as part of that process. Tract D ownership 
went to Colorado Mountain College while Tract C was retained by the Town for the purpose of the 
future realignment of the Blue River.  The remainder of the Block 11 property was envisioned primarily 
for workforce housing and park space. 

 
Staff Comments 

 
The plans for the Blue River reconstruction were recently finalized and there is little realignment on the 
Town owned Tract C therefore, the Town does not need Tract C. CMC was interested in acquiring Tract 
C because it is immediately adjacent to their campus and they can use that property as they work toward 
their campus master plan. As the Town did not have a use for Tract C, it was acceptable to swapping 
that Tract in return for an equal sized parcel which could incorporate future workforce housing. 
 
The Town is currently working with Colorado Mountain College on the land swap. The land swap 
would reallocate the proposed Tract D-2, 1.05 acre piece of property at the south end of Tract D to the 
Town. The Town-owned 1.05 acre Tract C to the northeast of Tract D would be conveyed to CMC.  
 
The proposed new Tract D-2 is the site of a potential workforce housing development by the Town of 
Breckenridge currently under review. 
 
With the proposed resubdivision, a portion of the 50 foot river and pedestrian easement on Tract D, 
adjacent to Tract C is being vacated and relocated on the eastern property line on Tract C, adjacent to 
Tract B. The river realignment plans for the Blue River in this area have recently been completed and 
approved by the Army Corps of Engineers with realignment work being started this summer. The new 
location of the 50 foot easement align with the approved river realignment plans and is contiguous with 
the existing 50 foot river and pedestrian easement. A new 5 foot public road easement runs along the 
north property line of both Tract D and Tract C to include the existing roadway alignment. 
 
As this is a re-subdivision of a previously approved subdivision, Staff finds that no applicable 
subdivision codes have been modified that would alter the previously approved subdivision.  Therefore, 
this application remains in compliance with the following:  
 
9-2-4-1: General Requirements 
9-2-4-2: Design Compatible With Natural Features 
9-2-4-3: Drainage, Storm Sewers And Flood Prevention 
9-2-4-4: Utilities 
9-2-4-5: Lot Dimensions, Improvements And Configuration 
9-2-4-6: Blocks 
9-2-4-7: Pedestrian And Bicycle Circulation Systems 
9-2-4-8: Street Lighting 
9-2-4-9: Traffic Control Devices And Signs 

-59-



9-2-4-10: Subdivision And Street Names 
9-2-4-11: Existing And Proposed Streets 
9-2-4-13: Dedication Of Park Lands, Open Space And Recreational Sites Or The Payment Of Fees In 
Lieu Thereof (the River parcel with original Airport Subdivision) 
 
Staff has no concerns with the subdivision of these two parcels. 
 

Staff Recommendation 
 
This subdivision proposal is in general compliance with the Subdivision Standards.  Staff recommends 
approval of the Resubdivision of Tracts C and D, Runway Subdivision, PL-2016-0038, located at 107 
Denison Placer Road with the attached Findings and Conditions. 
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 TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 
 Tracts C and D Resubdivision 
 Tract C and Tract D, Runway Subdivision 
 107 Denison Placer Road 
 PL-2016-0038 
 
 FINDINGS 
 
1. The proposed project is in accord with the Subdivision Ordinance and does not propose any prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have a significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic 

effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated February 19, 2016, and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project. Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on March 1, 2016, as to the 
nature of the project. In addition to Commission minutes, the audio of the meetings of the Commission are 
recorded. 

 
6. The issues involved in the proposed project are such that no useful purpose would be served by requiring 

two separate hearings. 
 
 CONDITIONS 
 
1. The Final Plat of this property may not be recorded unless and until the applicant accepts the preceding 

findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town of Breckenridge. 
 

2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 
proceedings, may, if appropriate, refuse to record the Final Plat, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of 
any work being performed under this permit, revoke this permit, require removal of any improvements made 
in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit will expire three (3) years from the date of Town Council approval, on March 8, 2019, unless the 

Plat has been filed. In addition, if this permit is not signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the 
permit mailing date, the duration of the permit shall be three years, but without the benefit of any vested 
property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 

5. Applicant shall construct the subdivision according to the approved subdivision plan, and shall be responsible 
for and shall pay all costs of installation of public roads and all improvements including revegetation, 
retaining walls, and drainage system. All construction shall be in accordance with Town regulations. 

 
6. This permit contains no agreement, consideration, or promise that a certificate of occupancy or certificate of 

compliance will be issued by the Town. A certificate of occupancy or certificate of compliance will be issued 
only in accordance with the Town's planning requirements/codes and building codes. 

 

-61-



PRIOR TO RECORDATION OF FINAL PLAT 
7. Applicant shall make a correction to the plat removing language vacating Tract C lot lines (Tract C lot line is 

to remain intact) and access easement is to remain on Tract D-2. 
 

8. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from Town staff of a final plat that meets Town subdivision 
requirements and the terms of the subdivision plan approval. 

 
9. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of final grading, drainage, utility, erosion 

control and street lighting plans if applicable. 
 

10. Applicant shall either install all public and private improvements shown on the subdivision plan, or a 
Subdivision Improvements Agreement satisfactory to the Town Attorney shall be drafted and executed 
specifying improvements to be constructed and including an engineer’s estimate of improvement costs and 
construction schedule. In addition, a monetary guarantee in accordance with the estimate of costs shall be 
provided to cover said improvements. 

 
11. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of all traffic control signage and street 

lights which shall be installed at applicant’s expense prior to acceptance of the streets by the Town. 
 

12. Per Section 9-2-3-5-B of the Subdivision Standards, the following supplemental information must be 
submitted to the Town for review and approval prior to recordation of the final plat: title report, errors of 
closure, any proposed restrictive covenants, any dedications through separate documents, and proof that all 
taxes and assessments have been paid. 

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
13. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004. 
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Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
Subject: Pho Real Large Vendor Cart  
 (Class B Minor, Combined Hearing; PL-2016-0023) 
 
Proposal: Installation of a 96 square foot large vendor cart and deck on a section of paved 

parking of the undeveloped Parcel A, Parkway Center Sub. Site upgrades include 
potted evergreen trees, and outside seating for customers.   

 
Date: February 16, 2016 (For meeting of March 1, 2016) 
 
Project Manager: Chris Kulick, AICP  
 
Applicant/Owner: David Washenfelder, Pho Real Foods LLC 
 
Address: 429 North Park Avenue 
 
Legal Description: Parcel A, Parkway Center Sub 
 
Land Use District: 9.2: Commercial and Residential, 10 UPA, Subject to Parkway Center Master 

Plan 
 
Site Conditions: Parcel is currently a vacant lot with 27 parking spaces and drive lanes constructed 

for future development.  The site is generally flat.  The property shares a driveway 
with Parcels B and C, and a common parking area.   

 
Adjacent Uses: South: City Market West: Ski Area Parking/Open Space  
 North: Pinewood Village  East: Alpine Sports 
 

Staff Comments 
 
This proposal falls under Policy 49 (Absolute) Vendor Carts adopted May 2, 2012. This vendor cart is 
classified as a large vendor cart per Section 9-1-5 Definitions as it is more than 40 square feet (cart is 96 
sq. ft., by this ordinance it cannot exceed 100 sq. ft.) and will not be removed each day.   
 
Per Policy 49: B.  Vendor Cart General Design Standards:  Large vendor carts and small vendor carts 
are subject to the following general design standards: 

(2) General Design Standards Outside The Conservation District: The following general design 
standards apply as indicated to large vendor carts and small vendor carts located outside of the 
conservation district: 

a. All large vendor carts and small vendor carts must be constructed of professional quality for use as a 
food vending cart. 

b. All large vendor carts and small vendor carts must be in good working condition, with no broken or 
rusty parts. All exterior materials must be kept clean and in neat appearance. No rusty or broken metal 
or chipped or broken wood is allowed. Metal and wood may be used as exterior finishes. The gauge, 
detailing and finish of all metal surfaces shall be suitable for long term use in an exterior location. All 
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exposed edges must be finished. All metal used in carts shall have concealed seams and overlapping 
joints. All wood details and finishes must be suitable for long wear in an exterior location. All detailing, 
construction and finishing shall be done in a craftsman like manner. No rough cut, unfinished or 
distressed woods will be considered as finish materials. 

The proposed large vendor cart will complement the surrounding building character of the one existing 
building of the overall site to the east by use of 2 x Channel Lap Siding, Glu-lam Timbers, Glu-lam rails 
and 3 ½” lattice. The proposal also includes wrapping the vendor cart with 530 sq. ft. deck. The 
applicant proposes to paint the siding, trim and rails of the cart and use stain on the deck base (please see 
attached color sample).    The landscaping proposed includes six potted evergreen trees of 2’ – 3’ in 
height.  There are a total of 27 parking spaces currently on the property. The proposal will eliminate 4 of 
those spaces, resulting in 23 remaining spaces to accommodate customers and employees.   
 
Policy 49 has design and operational standards as listed below for large vendor carts. Staff comments 
follow below.   
 
a. Large Vendor Carts: The following additional design and operational standards apply to large 
vendor carts: 
 
1. Large vendor carts must be located on private property. 
 
The large vendor cart is proposed entirely on private property.   
 
2. Large vendor carts may only sell food and beverages in forms suited for immediate consumption. This 
shall include hot or cold prepared foods and beverages, and prepackaged food and snacks, whether 
eaten at the site of sale, or "carry out/to go". Fresh fruits and vegetables may be sold from a large 
vendor cart in limited amounts if they are normally and customarily eaten in a raw form, but a large 
vendor cart shall not be used primarily to sell fresh fruits and vegetables. 
 
Pho Real only sells food and beverages in forms suited for immediate consumption.  All food and 
beverages are served on disposable ware.   
 
3. The area of a large vendor cart counts as density. The density shall be assessed against the real 
property on which the vendor cart is located. 
 
Lots A, B and C have a total of 31.58 SFEs. Presently only 8.14 SFEs have been developed on Parcel B, 
thus 23.44 SFEs of density remain.  The vendor cart is 96 sq. ft., hence it is well below the maximum 
allowed density.   
 
4. Large vendor cart owners shall improve the immediate area around their business through the 
installation of pavers, landscaping, awnings, and/or small decks to help the vendor carts to look less 
temporary, and to blend into the surrounding character. Where the surrounding area is already 
improved with such finishes as listed above, this requirement may be waived by the planning 
commission. 
 
The applicants have proposed to install 530 sq. ft. of redwood decking around the vendor cart.  The 
vacant lot has mature lodge pole pine trees. In addition, six potted evergreen trees of 2’ – 3’ in height are 
proposed for landscaping around the deck similar to Stellas’s vendor cart (PC#2013090). Staff has no 
concerns  

-66-



 
5. The maximum size of a large vendor cart is one hundred (100) square feet. 
 
Applicant’s large vendor cart is 96 sq. ft.    
 
6. The maximum height of a large vendor cart is ten feet (10'). The height of the cart shall be measured 
vertically from the ground to the highest point of the cart including signage or other equipment, if any. 
 
Applicant’s vendor cart is proposed to 10’ tall. 
 
7. If a large vendor cart is connected to the town's municipal water system, the owner must pay water 
plant investment fees for the vendor cart. If a large vendor cart is connected to the town's municipal 
water system, it must also be connected to the public sanitation system. 
 
The vendor cart will be connected to the town’s municipal water system and the Upper Blue Sanitation 
District. A condition of approval has been added.  
 
8. If a large vendor cart uses a commissary kitchen, the commissary kitchen must be identified on the 
vendor cart permit application, and any applicable water plant investment fees must be paid by the 
owner of the commissary kitchen. If the commissary kitchen changes during the term of the permit, the 
large vendor cart permit holder must notify the director within ten (10) days of the date of the change. 
 
At this time the applicants are not proposing a commissary kitchen. 
 
9. Siding and other compatible materials used on a large vendor cart must wrap all sides of the vendor 
cart. 
 
The wood stained 2 x Channel Lap siding is proposed on all four sides of the vendor cart.   
 
10. Exterior colors used on a large vendor cart must meet the town's color chroma palette. The color of 
all large vending carts shall be selected from the "Munsell Book Of Color" on file with the community 
development department. The maximum chroma for the exterior of a large vending cart shall be 4 
(unless red or yellow are used, then a maximum chroma of 6) and a maximum value of 6. 
 
The owner has proposed to stain the vendor cart with complementary colors to the adjacent retail office 
building.  The colors do not exceed a maximum chroma of 4.   
 
11. All signs for a large vendor cart shall be subject to the Breckenridge sign code. One permanent 
freestanding sign is allowed for a large vendor cart, unless otherwise prohibited by the Breckenridge 
sign code. 
 
Applicant is still working on the sign plan.  Signage will be permitted with a separate sign permit 
application.  The signs will meet the Breckenridge Sign Code.   
 
12. Generators are prohibited for large vendor carts, except for use as an emergency source of power 
when the permanent source of power to the large vendor cart is temporarily unavailable. 
 
Applicant will have power from the neighboring Lot A and will not be using a generator.   
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13. If a large vendor cart has wheels, the wheels shall be permanently screened with a skirting design 
architecturally compatible with the exterior of the cart. 
 
The wheels will be permanently screened with the siding used on all four sides of the vendor cart.   
 
14. Any trailer hitch on a large vendor cart must be removed or completely covered from view. 
 
The trailer hitch will be removed or completely covered from view.   
 
15. Owners of large vendor carts must obtain and maintain in full force and effect throughout the permit 
a valid town of Breckenridge business license. 
 
The owner will obtain a valid business license.   
 
16. Large vendor carts must be windproof, waterproof and locked when not in operation. 
 
The cart is windproof, waterproof and locked when not in operation.  The cart has windows that can 
open for serving food and lock when the business is closed.   
 
17. Outdoor seating for a large vendor cart is limited to a maximum of twelve (12) seats and three (3) 
tables. 
 
The seating plan will not exceed twelve (12) seats and three (3) tables. 
 
18. The operator of a large vendor cart shall comply with all applicable health regulations with respect 
to the operation of the large vendor cart. 
 
The cart is currently in process for approval as a food vendor cart by Summit County Environmental 
Health.   
 
 
 
Policy 18 (Relative) Parking: A. General Parking Requirements: It is encouraged that each 
development design their parking in a manner that exceeds the minimum requirements of the off street 
parking regulations. The town will evaluate the implementation of this policy based on how well the 
applicants meet the following criteria:  

1 x (+1)  
 (4) Common Driveways: The sharing of common driveways leading from public streets 

or alleyways to off street parking facilities by more than one use or parcel of land is 
encouraged, whether the parking facilities be joint or separate. 

Restaurants are required to have 3.5 parking spaces for every 1,000 sq. ft. of restaurant area.  In this case 
the vendor cart is 96 sq. ft. / 1,000 = 0.096 x 3.5 spaces = 0.336 of a parking space is required for the 
vendor cart, the Town always rounds up to a whole parking space, hence the vendor cart requires one 
parking space.  There are twenty-three parking spaces on-site; hence the minimum parking is being 
exceeded by twenty-two spaces. Staff notes that the three parcels associated with this subdivision have 
shared parking. The developer built all of the required parking for all three lots up front even though 
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only one lot is developed. Once the vacant lots are developed, the cart will have to relocate to another 
property.   
 
There is a common driveway for three adjacent lots-Parcels B, C, and a common parking area which the 
project will take access from. No new access is proposed. 
 

Other Issues 
Staff has advised the applicants that separate from this development permit an approval from Red, White 
and Blue Fire District is required. 

 
 

Point Analysis 
 

The proposal meets the requirements of Policy 49 (Absolute) Vendor Carts and all other Absolute 
Policies.  Staff found no reason to assign positive or negative points under any Relative Policies. 
 

Staff Recommendation  
 

The Planning Department recommends approval of the point analysis for the Pho Real large vendor cart 
(PL-2016-0023) located at 429 North Park Avenue with a passing point analysis of zero (0) points and 
compliance with all Absolute Policies. 
 
The Planning Department recommends approval of Pho Real large vendor cart development permit (PL-
2016-0023) located at 429 North Park Avenue with the attached findings and conditions.   
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Final Hearing Impact Analysis
Project:  Pho Real Large Vendor Cart Positive Points 0
PC# PL-2016-023 >0

Date: 2/1492016 Negative Points 0
Staff:   Chris Kulick, AICP <0

Total Allocation: 0
Items left blank are either not applicable or have no comment

Sect. Policy Range Points Comments
1/A Codes, Correlative Documents & Plat Notes Complies
2/A Land Use Guidelines Complies
2/R Land Use Guidelines - Uses 4x(-3/+2)
2/R Land Use Guidelines -  Relationship To Other Districts 2x(-2/0)
2/R Land Use Guidelines - Nuisances 3x(-2/0)
3/A Density/Intensity Complies
3/R Density/ Intensity Guidelines 5x (-2>-20)
4/R Mass 5x (-2>-20)
5/A Architectural Compatibility / Historic Priority Policies Complies
5/R Architectural Compatibility - Aesthetics 3x(-2/+2)
5/R Architectural Compatibility / Conservation District 5x(-5/0)

5/R
Architectural Compatibility H.D. / Above Ground Density 12 
UPA

(-3>-18)

5/R
Architectural Compatibility H.D. / Above Ground Density 10 
UPA

(-3>-6)

6/A Building Height Complies
6/R Relative Building Height - General Provisions 1X(-2,+2)

For all structures except Single Family and Duplex Units outside 
the Historic District

6/R Building Height Inside H.D. - 23 feet (-1>-3)
6/R Building Height Inside H.D. - 25 feet (-1>-5)
6/R Building Height Outside H.D. / Stories (-5>-20)
6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)

For all Single Family and Duplex Units outside the Conservation 
District

6/R Density in roof structure 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Broken, interesting roof forms that step down at the edges 1x(+1/-1)
6/R Minimum pitch of eight in twelve (8:12) 1x(0/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design - General Provisions 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Design and Grading 2X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Buffering 4X(-2/+2)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Retaining Walls 2X(-2/+2)

7/R
Site and Environmental Design / Driveways and Site Circulation 
Systems

4X(-2/+2)

7/R Site and Environmental Design / Site Privacy 2X(-1/+1)
7/R Site and Environmental Design / Wetlands 2X(0/+2) 

7/R
Site and Environmental Design / Significant Natural Features 2X(-2/+2)

8/A Ridgeline and Hillside Development Complies
9/A Placement of Structures Complies
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Safety 2x(-2/+2)
9/R Placement of Structures - Adverse Effects 3x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Public Snow Storage 4x(-2/0)
9/R Placement of Structures - Setbacks 3x(0/-3)
12/A Signs Complies
13/A Snow Removal/Storage Complies
13/R Snow Removal/Storage - Snow Storage Area 4x(-2/+2)
14/A Storage Complies
14/R Storage 2x(-2/0)
15/A Refuse Complies

15/R
Refuse - Dumpster enclosure incorporated in principal structure 1x(+1)

15/R Refuse - Rehabilitated historic shed as trash enclosure 1x(+2)

15/R
Refuse - Dumpster sharing with neighboring property (on site) 1x(+2)

16/A Internal Circulation Complies
16/R Internal Circulation / Accessibility 3x(-2/+2)
16/R Internal Circulation - Drive Through Operations 3x(-2/0)
17/A External Circulation Complies
18/A Parking Complies
18/R Parking - General Requirements 1x( -2/+2)
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18/R Parking-Public View/Usage 2x(-2/+2)
18/R Parking - Joint Parking Facilities 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Common Driveways 1x(+1)
18/R Parking - Downtown Service Area 2x( -2+2)
19/A Loading Complies
20/R Recreation Facilities 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Private Open Space 3x(-2/+2)
21/R Open Space - Public Open Space 3x(0/+2)
22/A Landscaping Complies
22/R Landscaping 2x(-1/+3)
24/A Social Community Complies
24/R Social Community - Employee Housing 1x(-10/+10)
24/R Social Community - Community Need 3x(0/+2)
24/R Social Community - Social Services 4x(-2/+2)
24/R Social Community - Meeting and Conference Rooms 3x(0/+2)
24/R Social Community - Historic Preservation 3x(0/+5)

24/R
Social Community - Historic Preservation/Restoration - Benefit +3/6/9/12/15

25/R Transit 4x(-2/+2)
26/A Infrastructure Complies
26/R Infrastructure - Capital Improvements 4x(-2/+2)
27/A Drainage Complies
27/R Drainage - Municipal Drainage System 3x(0/+2)
28/A Utilities - Power lines Complies
29/A Construction Activities Complies
30/A Air Quality Complies
30/R Air Quality -  wood-burning  appliance in restaurant/bar -2
30/R Beyond the provisions of Policy 30/A 2x(0/+2)
31/A Water Quality Complies
31/R Water Quality - Water Criteria 3x(0/+2)
32/A Water Conservation Complies
33/R Energy Conservation - Renewable Energy Sources 3x(0/+2)
33/R Energy Conservation - Energy Conservation 3x(-2/+2)

HERS index for Residential Buildings
33/R Obtaining a HERS index +1
33/R HERS rating = 61-80 +2
33/R HERS rating = 41-60 +3
33/R HERS rating = 19-40 +4
33/R HERS rating = 1-20 +5
33/R HERS rating = 0 +6

Commercial Buildings - % energy saved beyond the IECC minimum 
standards

33/R Savings of 10%-19% +1
33/R Savings of 20%-29% +3
33/R Savings of 30%-39% +4
33/R Savings of 40%-49% +5
33/R Savings of 50%-59% +6
33/R Savings of 60%-69% +7
33/R Savings of 70%-79% +8
33/R Savings of 80% + +9
33/R Heated driveway, sidewalk, plaza, etc. 1X(-3/0)

33/R
Outdoor commercial or common space residential gas fireplace 
(per fireplace)

1X(-1/0)

33/R Large Outdoor Water Feature 1X(-1/0)
Other Design Feature 1X(-2/+2)

34/A Hazardous Conditions Complies
34/R Hazardous Conditions - Floodway Improvements 3x(0/+2)
35/A Subdivision Complies
36/A Temporary Structures Complies
37/A Special Areas Complies
37/R Community Entrance 4x(-2/0)
37/R Individual Sites 3x(-2/+2)
37/R Blue River 2x(0/+2)
37R Cucumber Gulch/Setbacks 2x(0/+2)
37R Cucumber Gulch/Impervious Surfaces 1x(0/-2)
38/A Home Occupation Complies
39/A Master Plan Complies
40/A Chalet House Complies
41/A Satellite Earth Station Antennas Complies
42/A Exterior Loudspeakers Complies
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43/A Public Art Complies
43/R Public Art 1x(0/+1)
44/A Radio Broadcasts Complies
45/A Special Commercial Events Complies
46/A Exterior Lighting Complies
47/A Fences, Gates And Gateway Entrance Monuments Complies
48/A Voluntary Defensible Space Complies
49/A Vendor Carts Complies
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TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Pho Real Vendor Cart 
Parcel A, Parkway Center Subdivision 

429 North Park Avenue 
PL-2016-0023 

 

 
FINDINGS 

 
1. The proposed project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose any prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have a significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic 

effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated February 16, 2016, and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project. Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on March 1, 2016, as to the 
nature of the project. In addition to Commission minutes, the audio of the meetings of the Commission are 
recorded. 

 
6. The issues involved in the proposed project are such that no useful purpose would be served by requiring 

two separate hearings. 
 

CONDITIONS 
 

7. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 
accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 

 
8. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 

proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
9. This permit expires three (3) years from date of issuance, on March 8, 2019.  In addition, if this permit is not 

signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit shall 
be one year, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
10. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms.  
 

11. Applicant shall meet Policy 9-1-5 49/A (A) Large Vendor Carts.  
 

12. A separate sign permit is required for this large vendor cart. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve this application with 
the following findings and conditions.  
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13. Applicant shall pay for required plant investment fees and sanitary sewer fees prior to the installation of the 
vendor cart.   
 

 
14. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application. 
Any operational or material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town legal action under the Town’s development regulations.   
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